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• Welcome to the Financial Reporting Workshop 2020
• Introducing  - Mike O’Halloran
• Your Downloads and Material
• Your Questions

– During the session
– At the end of the session

Financial Reporting Workshop 2020

• Webevent Timing - 100 Minutes
• Introduction – 5 Minutes
• Teaching Space – 80 Minutes
• Questions and Answers – 10 Minutes
• Session Close – 5 Minutes

Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Statements part 1
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Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Statements part 1

Covering in this session
• Going concern
• Banking covenants
• Exceptional Items
• Judgements and estimates
• Government grants- TWSS
• Provisions, Onerous contracts and leases

Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Statements part 1

• Revenue
• Employee benefits & redundancies
• Deferred tax
• Directors report

Section 3- Financial Statement presentation

• Section 3 explains the requirements for the presentation of
financial statements;
– Must give a true and fair view
– Statement of compliance with FRS 102
– Going concern
– Frequency of reporting & consistency of presentation
– Materiality and aggregation
– What a complete set of financial statements is and what compliance

with FRS 102 requires.
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Going Concern

• Section 3.8-
– Management make an assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a

Going Concern
– An entity is a going concern unless management intend to liquidate or

permanently cease trading

• Section 3.9-
– Requires disclosure of any material uncertainties
– Section 1A?

• FRS 105

Section 3- Financial Statement presentation

• Going concern will be a consideration for the majority of
companies.

• Appropriateness of going concern basis
• Adequacy of disclosures

GC Scenario 1 - Not affected by COVID-19 or will 
perform better as a result of it.

• Possibly no disclosures required.
• No immediate issues
• Any long term issues?
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GC Scenario 2- Affected by COVID-19 but the directors 
are satisfied that no material uncertainty exists.

• Companies with an initial slowdown but the directors believe
that this is short term and they will return to normal once the
period passes.

• Possibly require a going concern note explaining why there is no
material uncertainty.

GC Scenario 3 - Affected by COVID-19 and the directors 
believe that a material uncertainty exists.

• Companies that have been hit hard by Covid-19.
• Temporarily shut down.
• Budgets indicate that it will be a difficult trading period.
• Costs being cut as much as possible to keep the business alive during

the period of uncertainty.
• Believe that the going concern basis is appropriate but a material

uncertainty exists.
• Going concern note required explaining material uncertainty etc.

GC Scenario 4- Severely affected by COVID-19 and the 
directors need to consider if liquidation is the only 

realistic option.
• Company plans to be liquidated or permanently cease trading in

next 12 months
• Break up basis
• Disclose fact in financial statements
• Restate assets to NRV
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What should a going concern (material uncertainty) 
note include?

• Details of the uncertainty including a description of the events/conditions 
casting doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

• Management’s plans to deal with these events.
• A clear disclosure that there is a material uncertainty which may cast 

significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
• A statement that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 

assets in the normal course of business.

Requirement driven by ISA 570-

Section 4- Statement of financial position

• Section 4 deals with the presentation of the balance sheet.
• Required to present assets, liabilities and equity
• Required to classify liabilities that are current and non-current

Section 4- Breach of banking covenants

• COVID-19 & banking covenants
• Types of banking covenants
• What happens if banking covenants are breached?
• Breach in covenants after the year end but before sign off?
• Going concern implications
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Breach of bank covenants

• Section 11.47 of FRS 102 requires that when there is a breach of
the terms or default of principal, interest, sinking fund or
redemption terms that has not been remedied by the reporting
date the following should be disclosed;
– Details of the breach or default.
– The carrying amount of the loans at the reporting date, and
– Whether the breach was remedied or the terms renegotiated prior to

the financial statements being authorised for issue.

Exceptional Item

• Exceptional Item –
• Not Defined (CA refers to them)

– Where material an additional line is included in the profit and loss
where relevant to the entity’s performance.

– Examples – Debt write off’s, impairments, restructuring
– Disclosure – Primary Financial Statements and Notes
– Recurring items are not exceptional items

Section 5- Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Income Statement

• Will COVID-19 lead to more “exceptional items” disclosures?
• Exceptional items should be shown on the face of the P&L

where it is relevant to the user of the financial statements in
understanding the results.

• Interaction with other sections of FRS 102- S.27, S.32
• Note disclosure
• Accounting policy disclosure
• Example
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Section 6 Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Income and Retained Earnings

• Section 6 deals with the requirements for the presentation of
changes in an entity’s equity for a period.

• SOCE required to present all changes in equity
– Total comprehensive income
– Non-controlling interests
– Change in accounting policies and errors
– Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Section 6 Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Income and Retained Earnings

• Treatment of revaluation reserves arising from COVID-19
impairments.

• Recognise impairment loss immediately in P&L unless carried at
a revalued amount

• Example

Section 8- Notes to the Financial Statements

• Section 8 describes the principles underlying the information that is
to be presented in the notes to the financial statements.

• Structure of the notes
• Disclosure of accounting policies
• Section 8.6 & 8.7 of FRS 102
• FRS 102 requirement-
• Judgements
• Assumptions
• Key sources of estimation uncertainty
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Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

• Increased amount of judgement and assumptions
• Going concern
• Future cashflow
• Property values
• Impairment
• Stock provisions
• Post balance sheet adjusting vs non-adjusting items- what

judgement was used if considering whether events were adjusting
• Recoverability of debtors

Judgement areas
• The factors on which the going concern basis is based on, including

assumptions used in preparing budgets for the upcoming 12 months and
applying the going concern basis.

• Judgement regarding going concern, how long restrictions will remain in
place, the overall economic impact of the measures.

• The factors used in calculating impairment & factors used when deciding
not to impair.

• Considerations used in determining if events occurring since the year end
are adjusting or non-adjusting.

• Judgements relating to the recoverability of debtors.
• Judgement used in determining which items are exceptional items as a

result of COVID-19.

Estimation Uncertainty Areas

• Estimation uncertainty regarding inventory provisioning.
• Estimation uncertainty regarding the recoverability of debtors.
• Estimation uncertainty arising from impairments to assets

arising from COVID-19.
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Section 24- Government Grants

• Section 24 deals with the recognition, measurement and
disclosures for government grants. Government grants are
assistance in the form of a transfer of resources to an entity in
return for past or future compliance with specific conditions. It
excludes transactions with governments that cannot be
distinguished from the normal trading transactions of the entity.

Government grants- Policy Choice

• Accruals Model
– Recognise the grant over the expected life of the asset and the amount

deferred shown as a liability on the balance sheet.
– Recognise the grant over a systematic basis over the period the entity

recognises the cost where the grant is revenue in nature.

• Performance Model
– Recognise the grant on receipt where the grant does not impose

performance related conditions, or
– Recognise the grant when the performance related conditions are met.

How should the TWSS/PUP be treated 
in the financial statements?

• Government grants defined;
– “Assistance by government in the form of a transfer of resources to

an entity in return for past or future compliance with specified
conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity.
Government refers to government, government agencies and
similar bodies whether local, national or international.”
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When to recognise

• Should not be recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that;
– The entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
– The grants will be received.

Accruals model vs. Performance model

• Choose accruals model or performance model;
• Accruals Model
• Recognise in income on a systematic basis over the periods in

which the related cost is recognised.
• Recognise as other income when the expense is incurred.

Accruals model vs. Performance model

• Performance model
• Recognise in income only when the performance conditions are

met.
• Main performance condition is a 25% reduction in turnover.

Hold as a liability until it is evident that the performance
conditions are met.
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Section 21 Provisions and Contingencies

• A provision should be recognised where there is a present
obligation (either legal or constructive)

• as a result of a past event
• where a transfer of economic benefits is probable to settle the

obligation
• and the obligation can be reliably measured

Section 21 Provisions and Contingencies

Section 21 Provisions and Contingencies

• Areas affected by COVID-19
– Onerous contracts
– Onerous leases
– Liabilities from an inability to fulfil an order
– Future operating losses- no provision
– Redundancies
– Closure of a factory
– Examples
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• Example: Closure of a division: no implementation before end
of reporting period (Extracted from Section 21A.6 of FRS 102)

• On 12 December 20X0 the board of an entity decided to close
down a division. Before the end of the reporting period (31
December 20X0) the decision was not communicated to any of
those affected and no other steps were taken to implement the
decision.

• Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event: There
has been no obligating event, and so there is no obligation.

• Conclusion: The entity does not recognise a provision.

• Example: Closure of a division: communication and implementation before end of reporting
period (Extracted from Section 21A.6 of FRS 102)

• 21A.7 On 12 December 20X0 the board of an entity decided to close a division making a particular
product. On 20 December 20X0 a detailed plan for closing the division was agreed by the board,
letters were sent to customers warning them to seek an alternative source of supply, and
redundancy notices were sent to the staff of the division.

• Present obligation as a result of a past obligating event: The obligating event is the communication
of the decision to the customers and employees, which gives rise to a constructive obligation from
that date, because it creates a valid expectation that the division will be closed.

• An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits in settlement: Probable as it can be reliably
measured.

• Conclusion: The entity recognises a provision at 31 December 20X0 for the best estimate of the
costs that would be incurred to close the division at the reporting date.

NEW - Operating Lease Concessions

• Amendment to FRS 102- October 2020
• COVID-19 related rent concessions on operating leases
• Provides clarity on how to account for changes in lease

payments should be accounted for
• Previously not addressed in FRS 102. Led to different application
• Effective- periods commencing on/after 1 January 2020. Can

early adopt
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What is the Amendment- Lessees?

• Lessee shall recognise any change in lease payments arising from rent
concessions on a systematic basis over the periods that the change in
payments is intended to compensate
– Only applies to temporary rent concessions as a result of COVID

• Deferred lease payments?

– Change results in revised consideration for the lease that is less than previous
– Any reduction affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021
– No significant changes to the T&Cs of the lease

What is the Amendment- Lessors?

• A Lessor shall recognise any change in lease income arising from
rent concessions that meet the criteria in previous slide on a
systematic basis over the period that the change is intended to
compensate.

Additional disclosure requirements

• Disclosure required of
– Changes in lease payments recognised in the P&L in accordance with

this change.
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Onerous leases

• What is an onerous contract?
– A contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligation

exceed the economic benefits.
– Unavoidable costs are the least net cost of exiting from the contract.
– The lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties

from failure to fulfil it.

Onerous leases

• Section 20 of FRS 102 requires the entity to apply section 21
(provisions) when a lease becomes onerous.

• Section 21
– If we have an onerous contract then the present obligation shall be

measured as a provision

Onerous leases

• What do we need to look at to determine the “least net cost”
– What is the lease amount?
– What is the unexpired lease term?
– Can we sublet the premises?
– Has an early termination payment been discussed?
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• Assume the following
– What is the lease amount? €40k per annum
– What is the unexpired lease term? 2 years
– Can we sublet the premises? Yes @ €15k per annum
– Has an early termination payment been discussed. Yes, landlord willing to

settle for €55k

• What is the least net cost?
• If we see out the 2 year lease? €80k
• If we pay the early termination payment €55k
• If we sublet the property €50k (€80k- €15k*2)

• In this situation, the least net cost is €50k and should be
recognised as a provision.

When to recognise a provision

• Recognise provision when
– There is a present obligation (the lease liability)
– As a result of a past event (signing the lease)
– Can be reliably estimated (the least net cost)
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Disclosure in full FRS 102

Section 23 Revenue

• Section 23 applies to the accounting for revenue arising from
the sale of goods, rendering of services, construction contracts
and the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties
or dividends. It does not apply to revenue or income arising
from transactions and events dealt with in other sections of the
standard (e.g. leases, changes in fair value in investment
property).

Section 23 Revenue

• COVID-19 implications
– Recognition criteria may be impacted when customers go out of

business or where arrangements are entered into with customers

• The minimum criteria to meet when recognising revenue are
– The revenue can be measured reliably
– It is probable that economic benefits will flow

Example
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Section 28 Employee Benefits

• Section 28 deals with the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of employees benefits to include the recognition and
measurement of defined benefit and contribution pension
schemes, short term employee benefits and termination
benefits.

Section 28 Employee Benefits

• COVID-19 implications- Redundancies
– Recognise when the entity can demonstrate its commitment to either

• (a) terminate the employment of an employee or group of
employees before the normal retirement date; or

• (b) to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made
in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Section 28 Employee Benefits

• COVID-19 implications- Bonuses
– What are the payment terms of bonuses?
– Terms extended beyond 12 months

49

50

51

Page 17 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



Section 29 Income Tax

• Section 29 deals with the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of current and deferred tax, VAT and withholding tax
on dividends.

• Current tax
– Tax recognized for the current and prior periods

• Deferred tax
– Tax arising on timing differences

Section 29 Income Tax

• COVID-19 & deferred tax
• Effect of impairments
• Assets previously revalued
• Deferred tax assets based on losses forward

– Is recovery probable?

Director’s Report

• Principal risks and uncertainties
• Future developments
• Particulars of events since the year end
• Going concern disclosures?
• FRS 102 vs. FRS 102 S.1A
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Director’s report

Principal Risks & Uncertainties

• Required for companies not availing of the small companies regime.
• Risks have changed as the Pandemic progressed.
• Risks and uncertainties should be specific to the company and consider the

specific issues
– Companies with debtors (credit risk)
– Companies in the hospitality sector (economic risk)
– Companies trading in highly affected countries (market risk, supply chain risk)

Future developments

• S.327 CA 2014. “The review required by subsection (1) shall
include an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the company.”

• Although this generally comments on management’s plans and
ambitions for the company it is hard to ignore the immediate
future hurdle of Covid-19.
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Events since the balance sheet date

• Directors report should incorporate a summary of the
“important events since the balance sheet date”.

Going concern note in directors report?

• The directors report requires a “summary of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the company”.

• If a material uncertainty is being disclosed in relation to going
concern, there is scope to include commentary relating to this
uncertainty and going concern in the directors report.

Questions ?
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Why OmniPro – One Firm One Solution

Our Why - Our core belief is simply this : Accountants can
and do change lives. So we get up every morning to bring
them the tools, advice and training so that they can create
outstanding businesses for themselves and their clients
too. In this way we change lives, communities and our
world. We would live to do that together with you.

Why OmniPro – One Firm One Solution
How We Do That –
• We do accountants
• We connect with accountants.
• We learn about accountants so we can understand them.
• We work out what accountants want and need
• We find the best solution for accountants in any given

situation

Why OmniPro – One Firm One Solution

What We Do We provide accountants with consulting,
training and information products in the areas of;

– practice management, business development & marketing;
– company secretarial & taxation;
– audit & financial reporting;
– professional regulation and disciplinary defence.
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Main Street,
Ferns,
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Co. Wexford.

00 353 (0)53 9100000

OmniPro 
Supporting Irish Accountants
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 2- Concepts and Pervasive Principles 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 2 describes the objective of financial statements, which is to provide useful information about 
the entity’s financial position, performance and cash flows, and establishes the concepts and 
underlying principles of preparation. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

Section 2 sets out a list of qualitative characteristics which are used when assessing whether financial 
statements meet their objectives namely; understandability, relevance, materiality, reliability, 
substance over form, prudence, completeness, comparability, timeliness and balance between benefit 
and cost. 

Financial statements are required to show a true and fair view and should be prepared on an accruals 
basis. 

Section 2 defines an asset as a resource controlled by an entity as a result of past events and from 
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the   entity. 

A liability is defined as a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement of 
which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits. 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses are recognised where it is probable that any associated future 
economic benefit will flow to or from the entity, and where the item has a cost or value that can be 
measured reliably. 

In general, assets and liabilities are initially measured at historical cost unless there is a specific 
requirement elsewhere in the FRS to measure them at fair value. Subsequent measurement depends 
on the type of balance and will be based on one of the following: 

 

• Amortised cost (for most basic financial assets and liabilities); 
• Fair value (for other financial assets and liabilities, investments in associates and joint ventures 

(if chosen), investment properties, and some agricultural assets); 
• The cost model or revaluation model (for property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets); 
• The lower of cost and selling price less costs to complete and sell (for inventory); and 
• The best estimate of the amount that would be required to settle the obligation at the 

reporting date (for most non-financial  liabilities) 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

One of the key areas of section 2 in relation to COVID-19 is the methodology for calculating fair value 
set out in the Appendix to Section 2. In the early stages of COVID-19 it may prove difficult to establish 
what fair value is if it is deemed that there is no “active market” in place. This will also come to the 
fore as section 27- Impairment requires consideration of “fair value less costs to sell” in determining 
the “Recoverable Amount”. 

 

Practical implications 

If applying section 27 of FRS 102, one of the many challenges faced by accountants is the 
determination of “fair value”. When testing for impairment, an entity is required to compare an assets 
“carrying amount” with its “recoverable amount”. 

The carrying amount is an easily understood value and represents the amount of which the asset is 
carried on the balance sheet. 

Recoverable amount requires the assessment of the higher of; 

1. Fair value less costs to sell, and 
2. Value in Use 

Value in use has a set series of rules and guidance as set out in Section 27 of FRS 102 and, although 
the area of cashflow projections might be difficult to estimate in the current climate, there is 
reasonably clear guidance on how to apply this to arrive at a value in use calculation. 

At the time of writing this piece, the country is in lockdown, people in non-essential roles have been 
restricted to movement within a 2km radius and business has temporarily ceased in the majority of 
sectors. 

The economic environment that was in situ on the 28th March 2020 was reasonably strong (despite a 
few weeks of decline) and the underlying values of assets did not show any tangible signs of 
impairment (to the extent that there is no market based evidence showing a significant decline) up to 
that date.  

Whilst there may be property transactions occurring during the period of lockdown, there is little 
evidence of market based transactions to support underlying asset values. Further to this, people’s 
inability to travel, businesses lack of ability to open and a general air of apprehension has stalled some 
transactions. 

While in the lockdown period from 28th March 2020 to whenever it is lifted (likely to be no earlier than 
mid-May at the time of writing this), there is a significant degree of uncertainty regarding asset prices 
in areas such as property, intangible assets etc. One would anticipate that there will be a decline in 
asset values during this period of time but the overall effect is unclear and there is potentially a large 
range of estimated values that entities could use to estimate the fair value of their property while in 
lockdown. 

When considering “Fair Value”, entities will need to consider the guidance contained in the Appendix 
to Section 2 of FRS 102. 
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Does an “Active Market” exist? 

An active market is defined in the glossary to FRS 102 as 

A market in which all the following conditions exist:  

(a) the items traded in the market are homogeneous;  

(b) willing buyers and sellers can normally be found at any time; and  

(c) prices are available to the public. 

 

If dealing with an asset such as a property, (a) above will be met (unless the property is particularly 
unusual, complex or has an unusual purpose). During the period of lockdown, one would argue that 
willing buyers and sellers cannot be found. Also, one would argue that the prices are not available to 
the public (this is particularly pertinent here given the potential sharp fall in property prices from 28th 
March to whenever the lockdown is lifted). 

The “Active Market” area requires some judgement, but on the basis of the above it would be argued 
that no active market exists for the period of time while the lockdown is in place. 

 

Application of the fair value methodology in Appendix to Section 2 of FRS 102 to COVID-19 

In order to consider the fair value of property, we should apply the rules set out in appendix A to 
section 2 of FRS 102 

1. The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price for an identical asset (or similar asset) in an 
active market. This is usually the current bid price.  
 
As argued above, during the period of lockdown, an “active market” does not exist and so we 
must move on to the next step. 
 

2. When quoted prices are unavailable, the price in a binding sale agreement or a recent 
transaction for an identical asset (or similar asset) in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties provides evidence of fair value. However, this price may not be 
a good estimate of fair value if there has been a significant change in economic circumstances 
or a significant period of time between the date of the binding sale agreement or the 
transaction, and the measurement date. If the entity can demonstrate that the last 
transaction price is not a good estimate of fair value (eg because it reflects the amount that 
an entity would receive or pay in a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale), 
that price is adjusted. 

Given the sudden shock to the economy, it is likely that this step will not produce a “fair value” 
unless there have been transactions since the lockdown that represent an arms length 
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. Assuming this does not produce a 
“fair value” we must move on to the next step. 
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3. If the market for the asset is not active and any binding sale agreements or recent transactions 
for an identical asset (or similar asset) on their own are not a good estimate of fair value, an 
entity estimates the fair value by using another valuation technique. The objective of using 
another valuation technique is to estimate what the transaction price would have been on the 
measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal business considerations. 
 
Assuming steps 1 and 2 are not successful in achieving a fair value then a valuation technique 
must be used to determine fair value. This step may be appropriate when to establish a fair 
value during the lockdown period once the lockdown period ends (ie. if we have market data 
based on transactions after the lockdown period, this will give us a more accurate picture of 
the fair value of assets held during the lockdown period). Assuming we are still in the lockdown 
period, we must move on to the next step. 
 

4. Valuation Technique 
 
Valuation techniques include using the price in a binding sale agreement and recent arm’s 
length market transactions for an identical asset between knowledgeable, willing parties, 
reference to the current fair value of another asset that is substantially the same as the asset 
being measured, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If there is a 
valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the asset and that 
technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual 
market transactions, the entity uses that technique.  
The objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what the transaction price would 
have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal 
business considerations. Fair value is estimated on the basis of the results of a valuation 
technique that makes maximum use of market inputs, and relies as little as possible on entity-
determined inputs.  
A valuation technique would be expected to arrive at a reliable estimate of the fair value if: 
(a) it reasonably reflects how the market could be expected to price the asset; and  
(b) the inputs to the valuation technique reasonably represent market expectations and 
measures of the risk return factors inherent in the asset. 
 
Given the unusual and unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is unlikely that a 
reliable valuation technique could be used to estimate values during the period of lockdown. 
Therefore we must move on to the next step. 
 

5. If we have been unable to achieve a “fair value” then we must look to the guidance where 
there is “no active market”, as follows; 

The fair value of an asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active market is 
reliably measurable if:  

(a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is not significant for that 
asset; or  

(b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and 
used in estimating fair value.  

This requires some judgement and the application of materiality but the uncertainty is likely 
to result in a range of estimated fair values that is significant. If the range of estimates is 
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significant, and is not deemed to be probable that it can be reasonably assessed then the entity 
is precluded from measuring the asset at fair value.  

If an entity is precluded from using fair value by following the above rules then under Section 
2A.5, the carrying amount at the last date the asset was reliably measured becomes it’s new 
cost and the asset is measured at cost less impairment until a new measure of fair value 
becomes available. In assessing cost less impairment, an entity is directed to section 27 where 
the assets carrying value should be compared to its recoverable amount. 

If (following the steps above) the entity deems that it cannot use fair value, this leaves only 
Value in Use as the measurable when calculating recoverable cost. 

Consequently, when assessing for impairment and fair value is precluded from being used, the 
carrying value should be compared to Value in Use. If value in use is lower than carrying value 
then an impairment of the deficit is required. 

Section 27.22 makes reference to situations where the fair value cannot be determines and 
states that where this is the case the value in use is the figure to be written down to in an 
impairment situation. 

“However, an entity shall not reduce the carrying amount of any asset in the cash-generating 
unit below the highest of:  

(a) its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);  

(b) its value in use (if determinable); and  

(c) zero.” 

 

How is the above scenario likely to impact financial statements? 

It is likely that the inability to calculate “fair value” owing to no “active market” is likely to cover only 
a small window of time. Depending on the year end and also the date of signature, this may not have 
an impact on financial statements. 

 

Year ends before March 2020 

If we consider year ends of December 2019, January 2020 and February 2020, there was an active 
market in place and therefore “fair value” is reasonably established. 

 

March 2020 year ends until lockdown ends and market data is available 

If we assume that lockdown continues towards the end of May with some businesses reopening in 
June, one would assume that property transactions (and more importantly the market data behind 
the property transactions) become more visible towards mid-late June. In this scenario, companies 
with a year end of March 2020, April 2020 and May 2020 which are signed before accurate market 
data is available may be impacted by the inability to determine fair value. 
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If market data comes to light at some point (in June in the above scenario) then a clearer picture will 
be available at that point of the values in place at March 2020, April 2020 and May 2020 which will 
allow entities to consider the fair value at the year end. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 3- Financial Statement preparation 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 3 explains that the financial statements of an entity shall give a true and fair view, what a 
complete set of financial statements is; and what compliance with FRS 102 requires. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

The fundamental principles for the preparation of financial statements that result in the faithful 
representation of transactions, other events and conditions, are the going concern assumption, 
consistency of presentation, comparability and materiality. Where there are doubts about going 
concern this needs to be stated in the financial statements. 

A complete set of financial statements includes each of the following for the current period and the 
previous comparable period: 

- a statement of financial position (FRS 102 also allows the use of the word balance sheet); 
- either a single statement of comprehensive income or a profit and loss account and a separate 

statement of comprehensive income where the entity has items posted to other 
comprehensive income; 

- a statement of changes in equity; 
- a statement of cash flows; and 
- notes to the financial statements which includes an explicit statement that the financial 

statements have been prepared under FRS 102. 

Where financial statements are prepared for periods longer or shorter than one year, the entity must 
disclose; that fact, the reason for using a longer or shorter period and the fact that comparable 
amounts presented in the financial statements are not entirely comparable. 

Financial statements are required to make clear the name of the reporting entity, the presentational 
currency, date of the end of the reporting period, whether individual or group accounts are covered 
and the level of rounding, if any used. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The going concern considerations as set out in sections 3.8 and 3.9 of FRS 102 will be a key area of 
focus when addressing the financial reporting implications of COVID-19. 

Section 3.8 requires management to make an assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. An entity is a going concern unless management either intends to liquidate or cease trading 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. This requires management to consider a period of at least 
12 months from the date of authorisation. 

Section 3.9 requires disclosure of any material uncertainties casting doubt on the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Disclosure of the fact that the going concern basis has not been applied 
is required if applicable. 

One of the significant considerations of COVID-19 is whether (and how significantly) COVID-19 has 
impacted the company from a going concern perspective. This section of FRS 102 also interacts with 
Section 32- Events After the End of the Reporting Period, as it requires that where an entity discovers 
after the year end that the going concern basis is not appropriate then the financial statements should 
not be prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Practical implications 

Entities will need to consider the effect COVID-19 has had on their business, including the future 
prospects of the business. This should include consideration of budgets and cashflows for the 12 
month period up to the date of signing off the financial statements. This will present many challenges 
for entities in the early stages of COVID-19 as the uncertainty caused by the virus and government 
reactions to it may mean that budgets and cashflows which are reliable may be difficult to produce. 

Entities will need to consider how affected their business is by COVID-19 and then determine the 
appropriate treatment from a basis of preparation point of view. 

For most entities, the emergence of COVID-19 will require the entity to reassess the going concern 
basis. For some entities, this will require additional disclosures in the directors report and in the notes 
to the financial statements. For entities where a material uncertainty is identified which casts 
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern there will be a significant level 
of additional disclosure required. 

Where a company’s only option is to liquidate or permanently cease trading, the financial statements 
should not be prepared on a going concern basis. 
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Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

An example of illustrative disclosure notes addressing the going concern note disclosures are set 
out below. 

Illustrative example 1- Company affected by Covid-19 but continues to trade. Trade has not been 
significantly affected and the directors conclude that no material uncertainty exists. 

The company made a profit of €xxxxxxxx and has net current assets of €xxxxxx net assets of €xxxxx 
at the year end. 

During the first quarter of 2020, The Covid-19 pandemic has spread initially from Asia to Europe and 
subsequently worldwide. The initial economic effect of this has been a worldwide slowdown in 
economic activity and the loss of jobs across many businesses. In Ireland there are restrictions 
placed on “non-essential” businesses which has resulted in many businesses temporarily closing in 
measures designed to restrict the movement of people and to slow down the spread of the virus.  

Company Limited has continued to trade during this period and has not seen a significant effect on 
its trading activities as a result of the virus. The directors have prepared budgets for the upcoming 
12 months which show that the company will continue as a going concern. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Illustrative example 2- Company affected by Covid-19 but continues to trade. Trade is negatively 
affected by the virus and the directors have seen a significant reduction in trading activity. Staff 
costs have been reduced. 

The company made a profit of €xxxxxxxx and has net current assets of €xxxxxx net assets of €xxxxx 
at the year end. 

During the first quarter of 2020, The Covid-19 pandemic has spread initially from Asia to Europe and 
subsequently worldwide. The initial economic effect of this has been a worldwide slowdown in 
economic activity and the loss of jobs across many businesses. In Ireland there are restrictions 
placed on “non-essential” businesses which has resulted in many businesses temporarily closing in 
measures designed to restrict the movement of people and to slow down the spread of the virus.  

Like many businesses, Company Limited is exposed to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. Whilst 
the company continues to trade during this period, there has been a notable reduction in trading 
activity and customer demand compared to the same period in the previous financial year. Staff 
costs have been reduced through the temporary reduction in staff/reduced hours and other costs 
have been reduced where possible (TAILOR/DELETE AS APPROPRIATE). The company will also use 
government supports provided to businesses during this time. 

Based on the measures taken to reduce costs, the directors believe that the company is well 
positioned to return to full trading capacity once the period of uncertainty passes. However, the 
directors believe that the above circumstances represent a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be 
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
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Illustrative example 3- Company affected by Covid-19 and has temporarily ceased trading as a 
result of Covid-19. There has been a significant reduction in trading activity and staff costs have 
been reduced. 

 

The company made a profit of €xxxxxxxx and has net current assets of €xxxxxx net assets of €xxxxx 
at the year end. 

During the first quarter of 2020, The Covid-19 pandemic has spread initially from Asia to Europe and 
subsequently worldwide. The initial economic effect of this has been a worldwide slowdown in 
economic activity and the loss of jobs across many businesses. In Ireland there are restrictions 
placed on “non-essential” businesses which has resulted in many businesses temporarily closing in 
measures designed to restrict the movement of people and to slow down the spread of the virus.  

Like many businesses, Company Limited is exposed to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. In 
March 2020, as a result of the reduction in economic activity and the recommendations and 
restrictions placed on businesses the company has decided to temporarily cease trading. During this 
period, the company has laid off staff and reduced working hours for staff who have been retained. 
Other costs have also been reduced during the non-trading period where possible. The company 
will also use government supports provided to businesses during this time. 

Based on the measures taken to reduce costs, the directors believe that the company is well 
positioned to return to full trading capacity once the period of uncertainty passes. However, the 
directors believe that the above circumstances represent a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be 
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Illustrative example 4- There is no realistic alternative for the company but to permanently cease 
trading or liquidate. The financial statements have not been prepared on a going concern basis 

The company made a loss of €xxxxxxxx, has net liabilities of €xxxxxx and net current liabilities of 
€xxxxx at the year end. 

During the first quarter of 2020, The Covid-19 pandemic has spread from Asia to Europe and 
worldwide. The initial economic effect of this has been a worldwide slowdown in economic activity 
and the loss of jobs across many businesses. In Ireland there are restrictions placed on “non-
essential” businesses which has resulted in many businesses temporarily closing in measures 
designed to restrict the movement of people and to slow down the spread of the virus.  

The effects of the above have been so severe on the activities of the company that the directors 
believe that there is no realistic alternative but to cease trading or to liquidate the company. 

 

Accordingly, the financial statements have not been prepared on a going concern basis. 
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Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying section 1A of FRS 102, the disclosures relating to material uncertainties are encouraged.  

In any event, where an entity has material uncertainties related to going concern, such disclosures are 
fundamental to users understanding of the financial statements and should be disclosed to ensure 
that the financial statements give a true and fair view. 

If the financial statements are prepared on a basis other than the going concern basis then this should 
be disclosed. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 4- Statement of Financial Position 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 4 deals with the presentation of the statement of financial position. The statement of financial 
position (also known as the balance sheet) presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and equity at the end 
of the reporting period. 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

The statement of financial position which can also be called a balance sheet should be laid out in 
accordance with the formats as specified under the Companies Act. It is possible to use the IFRS 
formats as long as it provides the substance of the information required by Companies Act. 

An entity is required to distinguish those items that are current and non-current. To comply an entity 
shall present current and non-current assets and current and non-current liabilities as separate 
classifications in its balance sheet. 

An entity shall present additional line items, headings, and sub-totals in the balance sheet when such 
presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

Disclosure is required in either the notes to the financial statements or on the face of the statement 
of financial position in relation to the following, a description for each reserve within equity and for 
each class of shares; the number and par value of shares issued, the rights, preferences and 
restrictions attached to those shares including restrictions on distribution of dividend, shares in the 
entity held by subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates and a reconciliation of the number of shares 
at the start and end of the year. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The effects of COVID-19 may mean that some companies breach their banking covenants. Where loan 
covenants are breached, it will usually mean that liabilities will no longer meet the definition of non-
current liabilities and should be restated to current liabilities. 

 

Loan agreements will often include loan covenants such as maintaining a certain debt to equity ratio 
or cashflow level. The impact of factors such as impairment of assets and liquidity could put pressure 
on such covenants and may cause them to be breached. 

 

Practical implications 

Where covenants are breached, the lender will be entitled to demand repayment before the loan 
maturity date. In instances such as this, the debt which was originally classified as due greater than 
one year will need to be reclassified as due within 1 year. 

If covenants are breached after the year end then this would be a non-adjusting event requiring 
disclosure in accordance with section 32 of FRS 102. However, consideration should be given as to 
whether covenants were breached during the financial year. Consideration should also be given to the 
wider issue of going concern implications arising from a covenant breach. 
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Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

Where covenants are breached, the balance sheet classification will be changed (from due within 1 
year to due after 1 year). The related note disclosures and maturity analysis will also change 
accordingly. Given the significance of a covenant breach, this may also impact on going concern 
disclosures. 

Where covenants are breached, section 11.47 of FRS 102 will also need to be complied with. This 
requires that when there is a breach of the terms or default of principal, interest, sinking fund or 
redemption terms that has not been remedied by the reporting date the following should be disclosed; 

- Details of the breach or default. 
- The carrying amount of the loans at the reporting date, and  
- Whether the breach was remedied or the terms renegotiated prior to the financial statements 

being authorised for issue. 

If the covenant breach occurred after the year end, there will not be a reclassification in the financial 
statements as this will not be a post balance sheet event. However, consideration should be made as 
to whether the covenants were breached during the year 

 

 Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying Section 1A of FRS 102 then there is still a requirement to present current liabilities and non-
current liabilities separately. As a result, any liabilities arising from covenant breaches are required to 
be presented as current, similar to the requirements under full FRS 102. 

The requirements of section 11.47 are not required under section 1A of FRS 102. However, disclosure 
of the breach may be required in order for the financial statements to give a true and fair view. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 5- Statement of Comprehensive Income and Income Statement 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 5 deals with the presentation of total comprehensive income for the reporting period. It allows 
presentation in one or two statements and sets out the information to be presented in those 
statements. 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

This standard sets out the format, contents and requirements for presenting items in the Income 
Statement or the Statement of Comprehensive Income. It sets out the reduced requirements if a 
company is applying section 1A of FRS 102. 

This section of FRS 102 also sets out the requirements on how to deal with exceptional items. 

Where exceptional items are material they should be appropriately disclosed in the profit and loss. 
Materiality can be determined by an item’s size and nature.  

FRS 102 does not define exceptional items. Example of exceptional items include (as detailed in IAS 1 
of IFRS): 

- Cost or provision of a major restructuring of operations e.g. a large voluntary and forced 

redundancies based on the size of the entity 

- Profit/loss on disposal of investments 

- Impairment/write down of tangible fixed assets 

- Impairment of investments 

- Impairment of inventories 

- Write down on inventories 

- Provision for closure costs 

- Reversal of prior year impairments or provisions in relation to the above. 

- Litigation settlements 

- Other reversals of provisions 

Where an item is a reoccurring item (e.g. fair valuing investment properties year on year) then this is 
not an exceptional item as it is a transaction in the normal course of business. A consistent approach 
should be adopted in that an entity cannot only choose to show losses as exceptional items but they 
also must show gains as exceptional items if they are of a similar nature e.g. reversal of prior year 
impairments previously disclosed as exceptional. 

Gains and losses should not be netted when disclosing the exceptional items, they should be shown 
separately. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The financial effects of COVID-19 may result in some companies incurring exceptional expenses and 
costs as the write down and impairment of assets occurs. Where exceptional items occur, these should 
be treated in accordance with Section 5 of FRS 102.  

An exceptional item should only be shown on the face of the profit and loss account where it is 
relevant to the user of financial statements in understanding the results. If it is not it should be 
disclosed in the notes. Therefore, if material, it should be disclosed on the face of the P&L. 

 

 

Practical implications 

Accountants will need to consider the financial implications of COVID-19 in other sections such as 
section 27- Impairment, section 32- post balance sheet events etc to determine if assets have been 
impaired and if the effect of COVID-19 is material on the financial statements. 

Following consideration of the impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements, companies will need 
to consider if the items are required to be presented as exceptional items and if so whether they are 
required to be disclosed on the face of the profit and loss account. 
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Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

If material, then exceptional items should be disclosed on the face of the profit and loss account as a 
separate line item. 

As FRS 102 does not define exceptional items, entities will have to include in a note to the financial 
statements what they define as exceptional in the notes to the financial statements. See below an 
example of such a disclosure: 

. 
Example : Exceptional item disclosure note for an accounting policy 
 
Exceptional items 
Exceptional items are those that the Directors’ view are required to be separately disclosed by virtue 
of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Company’s’ financial performance.  The 
Company believe that this presentation provides a more informative analysis as it highlights one off 
items. Such items may include restructuring, impairment of assets, profit or loss on disposal or 
termination of operations, litigation settlements, legislative changes and profit or loss on disposal of 
investments. The company has adopted an income statement format that seeks to highlight significant 
items within the company results for the year. 

 
Whether an exceptional item is shown on the face of the profit and loss above the operating profit 
line or not will depend on the method adopted to analyse the costs (i.e. by function or by nature of 
expense) and the type of exceptional expense. Usually if the expenses are displayed by nature then it 
is usually unlikely it could be shown above the operating profit line as it would have to be included 
within the expense that it would fall into. Where there is no overlap it may be appropriate to include 
it separately above the line e.g. legal provisions etc. Therefore in this instance a boxed presentation 
approach should be adopted similar to the function of expense layout as discussed below. 

When a function of expense layout is adopted the exceptional cost should be included within the 
function to which they relate in the profit and loss above the operating profit and then a boxed 
presentation can be included on the face of the profit and loss to show within the box, the operating 
profit before the exceptional item, then detail the exceptional item and then the operating profit after 
the exceptional item with a reference to a note where full details of the exceptional item is provided. 
See illustration of this below 

A note should be included in the financial statements detailing the nature and reason for the 
exceptional item as well as the tax effect of this. 

See below example of the way in which exceptional items should be displayed: 
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Profit and Loss Account    
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019    
  Notes 2020 2019 
      CU   CU 
Turnover   1   XXXXX   XXXXX 
Cost of sales      (XXXX) 

   
  (XXXX) 
   

    
Gross profit    XXXX   XXXX 
    
Selling and distribution costs    (XXX)   (XXX) 
Administrative expenses    (XXX)   (XXX) 
Other operating income    XXX 

   
  XXX 
   

    
Operating profit   3   900,000   XXX 
    
Operating profit before exceptional item    1,200,000   XXX 
Impairment of tangible fixed assets    150,000   XXX 
Impairment of stock    150,000   XXX 
Operating profit    900,000   XXX 
    
Income from shares in group undertakings   4   XXX   XXX 
Income from shares in other financial assets   4   XXX   XXX 
Income from shares in participating interests   5   XXX   XXX 
    
Profit on ordinary activities before interest and taxation    XXXX   XXXX 
    
Interest receivable and similar income   6   XXX   XXX 
Interest payable and similar income   7   (XXX) 

   
  (XXX) 
   

    
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation    XXXX   XXXX 
    
Tax on profit on ordinary activities   8   (XXX) 

   
  (XXX) 
   

    
Profit for the financial year    1,000,000   500,000 

 
Profit for the financial year attributable to:   
   
Owners of the parent company   1,000,000 

   
  500,000 
   

   1,000,000   500,000 
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Extract from notes to the financial statements 

Exceptional item - impairment charge 
  2020 2019 
   CU   CU 
Impairment of tangible fixed assets    150,000   - 
Impairment of stock   150,000 

   
  - 
   

   300,000 
  

  - 
  

 
(i)  The directors have reviewed the carrying value of tangible fixed assets, net of associated 

deferred grants, at the year end in accordance with Section 27 "Impairment of Assets".  As a 
result, a net impairment loss of CU150,000 (2019: CUNil) has been charged to the profit and 
loss account during the year. The impairment arose as a result of the material change in the 
market in which the company operates, caused by the economic impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

 
(ii)  The directors have reviewed the carrying amount of its stock at the year end in comparison 

to its sales price less costs to complete in accordance with section 13 and section 27 of FRS 
102. As a result, an impairment loss of CU150,000 (2019: CUNil) has been charged to the 
profir and loss account during the year. The impairment arose as a result of a period of 
temporary closure shortly after the year end which caused some stock obsolescence. The 
period of temporary closure occurred in response to the government recommendations and 
restrictions to help contain the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

 

Note where exceptional item not shown on the face of the profit and loss 

Exceptional item  2020  2019 
   CU   CU 
Administrative expenses in the profit and loss account includes the following 
exceptional charges: 

  

   
Provision against trade debtors   XX 

   
  XX 
   

   XX 
  

  XX 
  

Exceptional item 

The exceptional item arose as a result of the liquidation of a trade debtor following the economic 
impact on its business of COVID-19. 

 

 

 

  

Page 42 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Section 1A requires the disclosure of exceptional items either on the income statement or in the 
notes to the financial statements. This should include information on the nature, amount and effect 
of individual items of income and expenditure that are exceptional by virtue of size or incidence 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 6- Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Income and Retained Earnings 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 6 deals with the requirements for the presentation of changes in an entity’s equity for a period. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

The SOCE presents all changes in equity, including: 

- total comprehensive income for the period showing the split between owners of the parent 
and non-controlling interest; 

- the effects of changes in accounting policies and correction of errors; and 
- a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period of each 

component of equity for each period presented, separately disclosing changes resulting from: 
o profit or loss; 
o other comprehensive income; and 

- transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, e.g. dividends, treasury shares, changes 
in ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

Entities will need to consider if any transactions are required to be posted through the statement of 
changes in equity as a result of COVID-19. This may result following the reversal of a revaluation. 

Practical implications 

Entities will need to consider the provisions of section 27.6 of FRS 102 as set out below. 

“An entity shall recognise an impairment loss immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount in accordance with another section of this FRS (for example, in accordance with 
the revaluation model in Section 17 Property, Plant and Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued 
asset shall be treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other section.” 

If an asset which is being impaired as a result of COVID-19 was previously revalued and the revaluation 
is reflected in a separate reserve on the balance sheet then the portion of the impairment that relates 
to the revaluation reserve should be reversed through the statement of changes in equity first. Any 
excess impairment above the amount previously revalued should be recognised in the profit and loss 
account as an impairment. 

 

  

Page 45 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



 

 

Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

Below is an example disclosure of a statement of changes in equity recognising the effect of an 
impairment of a previously revalued asset. Assume a total impairment of €100,000. In this case 
the revaluation reserve of €25,000 is fully written off with the balance being recognised in the 
profit and loss account. 

 

For the Year Ended 31 December 20xx 
      

 

Equity 
Share 

Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings 

Share 
premium 

Reserve 

 
Total 

Equity  
 

      
 CU CU CU CU CU 
Balance at 1 
January 20xx 100,000 25,000 115,000 1,000 241,000 
      
     - 
Profit for the year    8,000  8,000 
      
Balance at 31 
December 20xx 100,000 25,000 123,000 1,000 249,000 
      
 
Balance at 1 
January 20xx 

  
100,000 

 
25,000 

 
123,000 

 
1,000 249,000 

      
      
Loss for the year   (93,000)  (93,000) 
      
Impairment of 
revalued assets  (25,000)   (25,000) 
      
      
      
Balance at 31 
December 20xx 100,000 0 30,000 1,000 131,000 

 
 
The below could be included in the notes to the financial statements 
 
i)  Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve arises as a result of the company’s policy of revaluing property, plant 
and equipment on a regular basis. During the year an impairment was recognised on the asset 
of €100,000. In accordance with section 27.6 of FRS 102, the revalued portion of the asset 
impaired has been treated as a revaluation decrease. 
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Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Section 1A of FRS 102 encourages statement of changes in equity or a statement of income and 
retained earnings where there are transactions with equity holders so as to meet the requirement to 
show the true and fair view. The above transaction does not represent a transaction with equity holder 
and therefore a statement of changes in equity is not necessarily encouraged unless there are other 
transactions requiring it. If the revaluation is recognised in Other Comprehensive Income then FRS 102 
encourages the presentation of this in accordance with section 5 of FRS 102. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 8- Notes to the financial statements 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 8 describes the principles underlying the information that is to be presented in the notes to 
the financial statements. 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

The section requires systematic presentation of information not presented elsewhere in the financial 
statements, as well as information on the: 

- basis of preparation; 
- specific accounting policies; 
- changes in estimates or changes in accounting policies; 
- explanatory notes for items presented in the financial statements; 
- judgements made in applying the accounting policies; and 
- key sources of estimation 

The notes are required to include a specific statement that the financial statements have been 
prepared in compliance with FRS 102. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The most significant area affected by COVID-19 is Section 8.6 & 8.7 which requires entities to disclose 
its judgements, assumptions and key sources of estimation uncertainty. COVID-19 will present entities 
with more sources of estimation uncertainty while judgement and assumptions will be necessary to 
address some areas affected. 

Practical implications 

The areas affected by COVID-19 which require some judgements to be made include; 

- The factors on which the going concern basis is based on, including assumptions used in 
preparing budgets for the upcoming 12 months and applying the going concern basis. 

- Judgement regarding going concern, how long restrictions will remain in place, the overall 
economic impact of the measures. 

- The factors used in calculating impairment & factors used when deciding not to impair. 
- Considerations used in determining if events occurring since the year end are adjusting or 

non-adjusting. 
- Judgements relating to the recoverability of debtors. 
- Judgement used in determining which items are exceptional items as a result of COVID-19. 

 

Entities are required to disclose the judgements made in applying the significant accounting policies. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty arising from COVID-19 may include; 

- Estimation uncertainty regarding inventory provisioning. 
- Estimation uncertainty regarding the recoverability of debtors. 
- Estimation uncertainty arising from impairments to assets arising from COVID-19. 

 

Entities are required to disclose the nature of assets subject to estimation uncertainty, information 
about the key assumptions used and the carrying amount at the end of the reporting period. 
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Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

 

See below example Judgements and estimates disclosure 

 

“CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  
 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. 

 

Judgements 

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 

The judgements that have had the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are discussed below. 

 

(a) Going concern 
 

Going concern is discussed in detail in note 4. At the time of approving the financial statements, 
there were restrictions placed on businesses to curtail the movement of people in measures designed 
to reduce the spread of the COVID-19 virus. This has had an effect on the company’s business and 
the economic environment as a whole. In assessing the reasonableness of the going concern basis, 
the directors have used judgement in preparing budgets and cashflows for the upcoming 12 months, 
whilst recognising that there is a degree of judgement and estimation arising from the uncertain 
nature of the planned response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The judgements used by management 
in preparing their budgets and cashflows are as follows; 

TAILOR ACCORDING TO THE COMPANY 

- That the company will be temporarily closed for a period of x months. 
- That on recommencement of trading, sales will be x% lower than previous year. 
- That cost reductions entered into during the period of temporary closure will adequately 

safeguard the company’s cash reserves for when they recommence trading. 
- ENTER ANY ADDITIONAL POINTS OF RELEVANCE. 

 

(b) Exceptional items 
 

Exceptional items are those that in the Directors’ view are required to be separately disclosed by 
virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Company’s’ financial 
performance.  The Company believe that this presentation provides a more informative analysis as 
it highlights one off items.  Such items may include significant restructuring costs (add as required). 
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Judgement is required as to what management determine as exceptional items. In the opinion of the 
directors, the adverse effects caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic meet the criteria 
for exceptional items. 

 

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

Estimates and assumptions 

 

(a) Establishing useful economic lives for depreciation purposes of tangible fixed assets 
Long-lived assets, consisting primarily of Tangible fixed assets, comprise a significant portion of the 
total assets.  The annual depreciation charge depends primarily on the estimated useful economic 
lives of each type of asset and estimates of residual values.  The directors regularly review these 
asset useful economic lives and change them as necessary to reflect current thinking on remaining 
lives in light of prospective economic utilisation and physical condition of the assets concerned.  
Changes in asset useful lives can have a significant impact on depreciation and amortisation charges 
for the period.  Detail of the useful economic lives is included in the accounting policies. 

 

(b) Impairment review following COVID-19 
The COVID-19 pandemic has caused an adverse effect on the economic environment in which the 
entity operates. In accordance with section 27.9 of FRS 102, this is an impairment indicator and the 
company has carried out an impairment review of its assets. The factors taken into consideration in 
performing an impairment review are based on estimates and are subject to uncertainty. Some of 
the key factors taken into consideration when considering impairment are set out below. 

 

(c) Inventory provisioning  
When calculating inventory provision, management considers the sales price less costs to complete 
in comparison to the net realisable value.  The level of provision required is reviewed on an on-going 
basis and has been disclosed in note 16. The company has also taken into consideration the effects 
COVID-19 has had on its inventories, including the effect of periods of closure caused by the 
outbreak. 

 

(d) Providing for doubtful debts 
The company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors.  The company 
uses estimates based on historical experience in determining the level of debts, which the company 
believes, will not be collected.  These estimates include such factors as the current credit rating of 
the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.  Any significant reduction in the 
level of customers that default on payments or other significant improvements that resulted in a 
reduction in the level of bad debt provision would have a positive impact on the operating results. 
The company has also specifically considered the effect of COVID-19 on the recovery of its debtors. 
The level of provision required is reviewed on an on-going basis and has been disclosed in note 17 
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(NOTE- MAY NOT BE APPROPRIATE/SHOULD BE TAILORED IF COVID-19 IS NOT A POST BALANCE 
SHEET EVENT). 

 

(e) Valuation of investment properties 

The company revalue its investment property to fair value based on advice from independent expert 
valuers. See note 14 for details of this valuation. The directors note that there may be a degree of 
estimation uncertainty regarding the fair value at the year end as there is a limited amount of 
transactions happening in the property market following the emergence of COVID-19.” (NOTE- MAY 
NOT BE APPROPRIATE/SHOULD BE TAILORED IF COVID-19 IS NOT A POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT). 

 

 

Disclosures if applying section 1A of FRS 102 

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty disclosures are not specifically required under 
FRS 102 but an entity may wish to disclose these if it is useful in order to show a true and fair view. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 11- Basic Financial Instruments 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 11 defines basic financial instruments for all companies with the exception of public benefit 
entities. Basic financial instruments coming within the scope of section 11 are: 

• Cash; 
• Demand and fixed term deposits; 
• Commercial paper and bills; 
• Notes, loans receivable and payable; 
• Bonds and similar debt instruments 
• Accounts payable, accounts receivable; 
• Investments in non-convertible preference shares, non-puttable ordinary and preference 

shares; and 
• Commitments to make or receive a loan to another entity that cannot be settled net in cash. 
• Loans due to or from group companies, directors loan accounts. It goes on to provide 

characteristics and examples of financial instruments. 

Section 11 applies to all financial instruments meeting the conditions of paragraph 11.8 except for the 
following: 

1. Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures; 
2. Financial instruments that meet the definition of an entity’s own equity and the equity 

component of compound financial instruments issued by the reporting entity that contain 
both a liability and an equity component; 

3. Leases, to which Section 20 Leases applies; 
4. Employers’ rights and obligations under employee benefit plans, to which Section 28 

Employee Benefits applies; 
5. Financial instruments, contracts and obligations to which Section 26 Share-based payment 

applies, and contracts within the scope of paragraph 12.5; 
6. Insurance contracts (including reinsurance contracts) that the entity issues and reinsurance 

contracts that the entity holds (see FRS 103 Insurance Contracts). 
7. Financial instruments issued by an entity with a discretionary participation feature (see FRS 

103 Insurance Contracts). 
8. Reimbursement assets accounted for in accordance with Section 21 Provisions and 

Contingencies; and 
9. Financial guarantee contracts (see Section 21). 

A financial instrument is defined in Section 11.3 as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability of another entity. 
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What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

The definition of basic financial instruments as detailed above; 

Two tiered approach model whereby financial assets and liabilities are measured at either amortised 
cost or FVTPL; 

Non market rate/interest free intercompany/directors loans which are not repayable on demand will 
have to be recognised on an amortised cost basis (i.e. present value of future cash flows etc.). This will 
result in a transition adjustment which will also result in a charge to the profit and loss or equity for 
companies where it is a loan due and a credit where it is owed from the other parties depending on 
the circumstances; 

Need to fair value equity investments where they can be measured reliably based on the hierarchy 
detailed in Section 11.27 and Section 11.14 (d) (i) if not then they are carried at cost less impairment. 

Premium or discounts on bonds released over the remaining life of the bond on an effective interest 
basis to the profit and loss account so as to bring it to par at the end of its life. 

Rules in relation to substantial modifications of the terms of an existing financial liability where there 
is a substantial change then the existing liability is derecognised/ extinguished and a new financial 
liability is recognised. Where a modification occurs, the difference between the carrying amount and 
the new required carrying amount is accelerated; and 

Financial assets are derecognised only when the rights to the cash flows from the asset have expired 
or are settled; or the entity has transferred all the risks and rewards of ownership, or where ownership 
is transferred but control is relinquished (Section 11.33). 
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See below choices and a summary of the standard. 
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Section 11 – Derecognition rules 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

Entities will need to consider whether impairment of assets is required as a result of COVID-19. FRS 
102 requires an entity to assess whether there is objective evidence of impairment of any assets held 
at cost or amortised cost. If there is an impairment then this is required to be recognised in the profit 
and loss account immediately. 

COVID-19 will not impact on financial liabilities unless the derecognition criterial set out in Section 
11.36 of FRS 102 are satisfied (ie. the liability is paid, expires or is discharged). The debtor must be 
released from the obligation by the creditor. The liquidation or personal insolvency of a creditor is not 
grounds for impairing a creditor as the legal requirement to pay will rest with the debtor until the 
balance is formally written off. 

 

Practical implications 

Section 11.22 & 11.23 identifies events that may give rise to the possibility of impairment of a financial 
instrument. 

“11.22 Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data 
that come to the attention of the holder of the asset about the following loss events: 

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

(c) the creditor, for economic or legal reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, granting to 
the debtor a concession that the creditor would not otherwise consider; 

(d) it has become probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 

(e) observable data indicating that there has been a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, even though the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, such as adverse 
national or local economic conditions or adverse changes in industry conditions. 

11.23 Other factors may also be evidence of impairment, including significant changes with an adverse 
effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the 
issuer operates.” 

 

The economic impact of COVID-19 may result in some of the above impairment indicators being 
present, including the following; 

- Significant financial difficult of debtors which may impact on their recovery. This may be more 
acute depending on the particular industry that the debtor operates in and if this has been 
particularly badly affected by COVID-19. 

- A breach of payment terms by a debtor which is now in default as a result of COVID-19. 
- A write down of debtors balances as a results of the consequences of the debtor getting into 

financial difficulty as a result of COVID-19. 
- A debtor who has gone into liquidation or examinership as a result of COVID-19 
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Example- Impairment of debt instruments 

Company A issued a loan to a related company for CU200,000 and incurred costs of CU10,000 at the 
start of year 1 for 5 years. Interest at a fixed rate of 5% was charged (i.e. CU10,000 per annum) which 
was deemed to be the market rate of the loan at that date. At the end of year 3 the related company’s 
financial performance deteriorated as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19 and shows signs 
that the full amount will not be recoverable. Company A estimates that it will only receive 75% of the 
interest (i.e. CU150,000*5%=CU7,500) and 75% of the capital (i.e. CU200,000*75%=CU150,000). 
Therefore, an impairment loss is required to be booked. The effective rate on taking out the loan was 
3.88% which was calculated using a mathematical model in Excel. 

 

 

NOTE:  if in the above example the entity determined there to be doubt about the recoverability of 
the full asset an impairment of CU204,226 would be booked. 

Example- impairment review of a COVID-19 debtors listing 

Company B operates an air conditioning business. At its year end of 31 March 2020, it had the 
following debtors on its year end debtors listing which it considered as part of its impairment review. 

- CU50,000 due from a supermarket chain which is trading profitably during COVID-19- no 
indicators of impairment 

- CU30,000 due from a local factory which closed down temporarily during COVID-19. From 
discussions with the debtor, only 50% of the balance will be recovered as a result of this. 

- CU 25,000 due from a hotel which has significant financial difficulties arising from COVID-19. 
The hotel may not reopen following the lifting of restrictions and if it does, it will need to 
restructure/write off its debts. 

Following on from the above impairment review, 2 adjustments are required as follows as the 
circumstances provide objective evidence of impairment; 
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Dr. P&L-    CU15,000 

Cr. Provision for bad debts    CU15,000 

Being impairment of factory debtor to 50% of its original value 

 

Dr. P&L-   CU25,000 

Cr. Provision for bad debt    CU25,000 

Being impairment of hotel debtor to CU0 

 

 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

The company is required to disclose details of impairments and reversal of impairments on financial 
assets is required to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements (as required under full FRS 
102). 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 13- Inventories 

 

Summary of this section 

Inventories are defined as assets: 

• held for sale in the ordinary course of business 
• in the process of production for such sale; or 
• in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or rendering of 

services. 

Section 13 applies to all inventories with the exception of: 

• work in progress arising under construction contracts including directly related service 
contracts (Section 23); 

• financial instruments (dealt with under Section 11 and section 12); and 
• biological assets related to agriculture and agricultural produce at the point of harvest (Section 

34). 

Section 13 deals with the recognition, measurement, costing, impairment of inventories and allocation 
of production overheads to inventory. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

• Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less cost to complete 
and sell and includes inventories held for distribution; 

• The standard contains detailed guidance on the techniques for measuring cost; 
• Cost of inventories include all cost of purchases, cost of conversion and other costs incurred 

in bringing it to its present condition; 
• Non-exchange transactions to be valued at fair value; 
• Fixed production overheads to be allocated to inventory based on normal capacity; 
• Cost of conversion  includes  directly  attributable  variable  and  fixed   production overheads; 
• Selling costs, abnormal losses, storage costs and administration overheads not contributing to 

inventories are expensed as incurred; 
• FIFO/weighted average costs can be used. Standard costs, retail method or latest purchase 

price can also be used; and 
• Specific section to deal with impairments. Impairment losses recognised or reversed are 

required to be disclosed. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main area likely to be affected by COVID-19 is the area of inventory impairment, specifically 
section 13.19 which states; 

“Paragraphs 27.2 to 27.4 require an entity to assess at the end of each reporting period whether any 
inventories are impaired, ie the carrying amount is not fully recoverable (eg because of damage, 
obsolescence or declining selling prices). If an item (or group of items) of inventory is impaired, those 
paragraphs require the entity to measure the inventory at its selling price less costs to complete and 
sell, and to recognise an impairment loss. Those paragraphs also require a reversal of a prior 
impairment in some circumstances.” 

For some companies, COVID-19 will present a greater likelihood that inventory will be impaired or 
obsolete at the year end as a result of the sudden closures of businesses and associated economic 
impact. 

 

Practical implications 

Entities will need to place greater focus on whether the post year end activity indicates that the selling 
price less costs to complete is lower than the carrying value. Such circumstances would indicate that 
an impairment is present. 

Entities will also need to consider the timing of the year end and the events giving rise to the inventory 
impairment in accordance with section 32- Events after the End of the Reporting Period to determine 
if the impairment is an adjusting or non-adjusting post balance sheet event. 
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Disclosure issues arising from COVID-19 

Extract from notes to the financial statements- assuming the impairment is an adjusting event 

1. Stocks 
 

 2020 2019 
Raw material 33,724 42,108 
Precast concrete products 71,769 84,968 
Work in progress 674,216 345,090 
 779,709 

 
472,166 

 

Stocks are stated after provisions for impairment of CU32,000 (2019: CU28,000). 

 

Example 

Company A has inventory of wine and chocolate of CU100,000 at the year-end of March 2020. 
Following the developments of COVID-19, the company’s market had diminished significantly. The 
company has identified that it can sell the wine and chocolates as Easter hampers, to avoid them going 
out of date. The sales price of the hampers will be CU80,000 but there is an additional cost of CU20,000 
associated with packaging them. The directors are satisfied that this is an adjusting event. 
 
In this example, the carrying value is CU100,000. The sales price (CU80,000) less costs to complete 
(CU20,000) is CU60,000. A stock impairment should be recognised of CU40,000 and incurred in the 
year ended March 2020 accounts. 
 

FRS 102 & Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

There are no specific requirements under section 1A of FRS 102 to disclose inventory impairment.  

Under full FRS 102, impairment losses recognised or reversed in the P&L are required to be disclosed. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 14- Investment in Associates 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 14 defines what an associate is, how it should be recognised, measured, derecognised and 
disclosed. 

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and which is not a subsidiary 
or a joint venture (Section 14.2). 

Significant influence is the power to participate in (but not to control or jointly control) the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the associate. A 20 per cent share (directly or indirectly) of the voting 
power is the presumed threshold for the existence of significant influence (Section 14.4). 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

• In the individual entity financial statements; associates are measured under either the cost 
model, fair value model through the OCI or at fair value through the profit and loss account 
(assuming fair value can be reliably measured); 

• In the consolidated parent financial statements, the parent must use the equity accounting 
method (with the exception of investments in associates as part of an investment portfolio in 
which case they are measured at fair value through the profit and loss account). Goodwill is 
consumed within the initial investment and is not disclosed separately and amortised over its 
useful life; 

• When profits or losses arise on transactions between an investor and its equity accounted 
associate, the investor eliminates unrealised profits and losses to the extent of its interest in 
the associate; 

• Under the cost model the share of profits/losses of the associate is posted against the 
investment including any distributions received. Where losses occur the investment cannot 
be reduced below zero; and 

• Share of associate (i.e. results after interest and tax) to be shown as one line item in the 
consolidated financial statements. Share of associates income/expenses recognised in OCI in 
the associates accounts should be shown in OCI in the consolidated financial statements. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main effect of COVID-19 on this section will be whether the investments in associates will be 
impaired. 

 

Practical implications 

The implications of entity financial statements will depend on whether the entity values its 
investments in associates at cost or fair value. 

Cost model 

If applying the cost model then investments are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Investments held at low nominal amounts will likely not be affected due to immateriality. 

In order to determine if the asset should be impaired, the underlying value of the net assets should 
be reviewed to see if they are lower than the carrying value. If they are not then the value in use model 
may be used to determine whether an impairment is required. 

Any impairment cost should be recognised in the P&L. 

Impairments in the period between the year end and sign off should be considered in the context of 
section 32- post balance sheet events to determine if the event is adjusting or non-adjusting. 

 

Fair Value model 

If applying the fair value model then entities will need to consider the fair value movement and if this 
has been affected by COVID-19. Where there are indications after the year end of a significant 
movement in fair value between the year end and date of approval then this should be considered in 
the context of section 32- post balance sheet events to determine if the event is adjusting or non-
adjusting. 
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Example 

Adoption of fair value through profit and loss 

Company A in its individual financial statements has adopted a policy of fair valuing investments in 
associates through the profit and loss. The associate was acquired at the start of year 1 and original 
cost was CU100,000. The fair value of the investment at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 was 
CU150,000 and CU125,000 respectively. Assume a deferred tax sales rate of 20%. Assume that the 
investment is held for future disposal as opposed to dividends – on this basis the sales tax rate should 
be used (if the investment was held for future dividends then the dividend tax rate should be used to 
measure deferred tax). Note if there was a tax exemption then no deferred tax would be required 
however we have assumed that there is not for the purposes of this calculation. The adjustments 
required to reflect the fair value policy and the related deferred tax are: 

Journals required in the 31 March 2020 year 

CU  CU 

Dr Fair Value on Movement in Associate in P&L  25,000  

Cr Investments in Associate      25,000  

 

Being journal to reflect fall in value at 31 March 2020 

CU  CU 

Dr Deferred Tax Liability     5,000  

Cr Deferred Tax in P&L       5,000 

((CU25,000)*20%) 

 

Being journal to reflect deferred tax on the downward valuation.  

 

Impairment if adopting the cost model 

Company A holds a 40% investment in Company B (cost CU500,000). At the year end Company B’s 
performance was far less than expected and a significant loss was incurred as a result of a period of 
closure arising from the outbreak of COVID-19. As a result Company B’s net assets was CU800,000. 
The significant loss made by Company B is an impairment indicator. As it is likely that it would be 
difficult to determine the fair value less cost to sell in an active market, the value in use model should 
be utilised to determine whether an impairment is required. In this particular case, it may be 
appropriate to impair the investment down to the net asset amount of CU320,000 (CU800,000 *40%) 
assuming that the value in use calculations do not support the non-impairment. Given the loss making 
position of company B, it is likely that the cash generating unit will not generate a favourable value in 
use calculation and an impairment to CU320,000 will be required. 
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Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Under Section 1A of FRS 102, the movement in fair value of investments in associates or impairment 
in associates to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
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 FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 15- Investments in Joint Ventures 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 15 deals with the recognition, measurement and disclosure for joint ventures. 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic 
activity that is subject to joint control. Joint ventures can take the form of jointly controlled operations, 
jointly controlled assets, or jointly controlled entities. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

• A jointly controlled entity is initially recognised at the transaction price and subsequently 
adjusted for the investors share of the profit or loss; 

• For a venturer who is not a parent or in the parents separate financial statements, the joint 
venture is measured under either; the cost model, fair value model through the OCI (where a 
decrease occurs below that which was recognised in OCI then the remainder is posted to the 
profit and loss) or at fair value through the profit and loss account. If the cost model is chosen, 
the dividends will be shown as income; 

• In the consolidated financial statements under the equity model for jointly controlled entities 
the share of profits/losses of the joint venture is posted against the investment including any 
distributions received. Where losses occur the investment cannot be reduced below zero. 
Goodwill is consumed within the initial investment and is not disclosed separately and 
amortised over its useful life; 

• Where consolidated financial statement are not prepared or the entity is not a parent then 
the equity method is not used, instead, disclosures are required to summarise the results 
about the investments along with the effect if they had of been accounted for under the equity 
method; 

• A joint arrangement and jointly controlled operation accounts for its own share of the assets, 
liabilities and cash flows in the consolidated financial statements; and 

• Where joint control is lost, the investment is then recognised as an associate in accordance 
with Section 14 – Investments in Associates or Section 11– Basic financial Instruments or 
Section 12 – Other Financial Instruments Issues depending on the percentage ownership held 
after disposal.  
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

COVID-19 may have an impact on how joint ventures applying the cost model are measured if they 
show indicators of impairment. Further, if joint ventures are measured using fair value then the fair 
value movement may have a negative effect on the asset held in a company’s financial statements. 

 

Practical implications 

The implications of entity financial statements will depend on whether the entity values its joint 
ventures at cost or fair value. 

Cost model 

If applying the cost model then ventures are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

In order to determine if the joint venture should be impaired, the underlying value of the net assets 
should be reviewed to see if they are lower than the carrying value. If they are not then the value in 
use model may be used to determine whether an impairment is required. 

Any impairment cost should be recognised in the P&L. 

Impairments in the period between the year end and sign off should be considered in the context of 
section 32- post balance sheet events to determine if the event is adjusting or non-adjusting. 

 

Fair Value model 

If applying the fair value model then entities will need to consider the fair value movement and if this 
has been affected by COVID-19. Where there are indications after the year end of a significant 
movement in fair value between the year end and date of approval then this is likely a non-adjusting 
event but should be considered in the context of section 32- post balance sheet events to determine 
the treatment. 

 

Equity method 

A venturer that is a parent is required, in its consolidated financial statements, account for all of its 
investments in jointly controlled entities using the equity method. Under this method, an equity 
investment is initially recognised at the transaction price (including transaction costs) and is 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the investor’s share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income 
and equity of the associate. Losses incurred as a result of COVID-19 may result in the value of the joint 
venture being written down to Nil (where the loss incurred exceeds the initial investment). An example 
of this is set out below. 

 

Example- loss in excess of investment 

Company A has a 35% joint venture. The cost was CU100,000. At the end of year 1 the joint venture 
made a loss of CU150,000. In this instance the CU100,000 would be credited against the investment 
but the CU50,000 would not be recognised as there is no obligation on Company A with regard to 
these losses. 
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If in year 2 a profit of CU40,000 was recognised by the joint venture, this CU40,000 would not be 
recognised as a loss of CU50,000 has went unrecognised previously. Only when another CU10,000 is 
profit are made can the entity recognise the profit in the parent company consolidated accounts. 

 

If there was a loan which met the definition of a long term investment then CU50,000 of the loss above 
would be taken off that loan. 

 

Disclosures 

If an impairment is made against joint ventures in accordance with section 27 of FRS 102 then the 
entity is required to disclose  

- the amount of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the line 
item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income (or in the income statement, if 
presented) in which those impairment losses are included; and 

- (b) the amount of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the 
period and the line item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income (or in the income 
statement, if presented) in which those impairment losses are reversed 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Under Section 1A of FRS 102, the movement in fair value of investments in joint ventures or 
impairment of joint ventures is required to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 16- Investment Property 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 16 deals with the accounting for investment property.  

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

Investment property is defined in Section 16.2 as property (land or buildings, or part of a building or 
both) held by the owner or by the lessee under a finance lease to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both, rather than for: 

 

1. Use in production or supply of goods or service or for administrative purposes; or 
2. Sale in ordinary course of business 

 
• Investment property is measured at fair value  
• Movement in fair value to be recognised in the profit and loss account in the period that it 

occurred; 
• Fair value not necessarily required to be performed by an external valuation specialist 

however they need to be suitably qualified and disclosure is required if not performed by a 
professional valuer; 

• Deferred tax to be accounted for at the CGT rate; 
• Reconciliation to be provided giving full details of transfers to and from investment property 

and any fair value adjustments; 
• Contractual obligations and restrictions of disposal to be disclosed; 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main effect of COVID-19 on this section will be the impact of fair value movements caused by the 
economic effects of the government recommendations and restrictions worldwide. 

 

Practical implications 

 

Investment properties are subsequently measured in accordance with section 16.7 of FRS 102 

“An investment property shall be measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss. If a property interest held under a lease is classified as an investment 
property, the item accounted for at fair value is that interest and not the underlying property. The 
Appendix to Section 2 provides guidance on determining fair value.” 

 

It is likely that COVID-19 will have a negative impact on the fair value of investment property which 
will need to be recognised through the profit and loss account. This may also have deferred tax 
implications and deferred tax liabilities will reduce as the fair value of investment properties reduce. 

  

Page 71 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



 

 

Examples 

 

Example: Investment Property Fair value movements and deferred tax impact 

Company A purchased a property on 31 March 2010 for CU120,000 which met the definition of 
investment property. At the 31 March 2019 the fair value was CU200,000 and as at 31 March 2020, 
the fair value was CU150,000. The sales deferred tax rate is 20% (Capital Gains tax rate). Assume 
indexation is not applicable.  

Based on the above, the asset was held at fair value of CU200,000 on 31 March 2019 and a deferred 
tax liability of CU16,000 was recognised. 

The journals required for year ended 31 March 2020 is: 

 CU CU 

Cr Investment Property  50,000 

Dr Fair Value Movement on Investment Property 
in P&L (other operating income) 

50,000  

Being journal to reflect the movement in fair value during the year.  

The journals required for deferred tax at 31 March 2020: 

 CU CU 

Cr Deferred Tax in P&L 

((CU200,000-150,000)*20%) 
 10,000 

Dr Deferred Tax in Balance Sheet 10,000  

Being journal to reflect the movement in deferred tax during the year.  

 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Under Section 1A of FRS 102, disclosure is required of fair value movement in investment properties. 
Similarly there is a requirement to disclose details of investment property where included at fair value.  
Disclose fair value investment posted to the Profit & Loss including additions, disposals, transfers to 
and from PPE, transfers to and from inventories, valuation basis and assumptions applied. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 17- Property, plant and equipment 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 17 deals with the initial recognition, subsequent measurement, depreciation and impairment 
for property, plant and equipment (PPE) held for use in the production, or supply of goods and 
services, for rental to others or administrative purposes. All items of PPE are expected to be used 
during more than one period. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

• PPE are tangible assets that: 
o Are held for use in the production or supply of good or services, for rental to others 

or for administrative purposes; and 
o Are expected to be used during more than one 

• Policy choice to recognise PPE at cost or revaluation (Section 2) using the fair value model; 
• Where a policy of revaluation is taken, then a revaluation must be performed on regular 

intervals so that the carrying amount stated does not materially differ from the fair value at 
the reporting date; 

• Movement as a result of a revaluation is posted to other comprehensive income and to the 
revaluation reserve together with the deferred tax movement. Where the revaluation 
decrease is in excess of previous revaluation gains posted, the excess is posted to the profit 
and loss account; 

• A reversal of a prior period downward revaluation due to an uplift in subsequent years 
which was posted to the profit and loss cannot be reversed above what the depreciation 
would have been charged if no devaluation had occurred; 

• Deferred tax to be recognised on the uplift where a revaluation policy is adopted; 
• Depreciation method and residual value utilised to be reviewed only when there are 

indicators of change; 
• Depreciation methods that can be used are; the straight line, the sum of the digits, the 

reducing balancing method or a method based on The one which reflects the usage of the 
economic benefits should be used; 

• Spare parts which are used in more than one period or for PPE should be capitalised as fixed 
assets; 

• Where a requirement to dismantle, remove and restore a site to its original condition the 
present value cost should be included in PPE and depreciated up to the date on which the 
liability crystallise; 

• Qualifying borrowing costs can be capitalised within property, plant and equipment  
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main effect of COVID-19 on this section will be the potential impairment of assets. Impairments 
will need to be considered in the context of section 32 of FRS 102- Events after the end of the reporting 
period as some PPE impairments may be adjusting events depending on the timing of the year end. 

Section 17.24 addresses PPE impairment and states; 

“At each reporting date, an entity shall apply Section 27 Impairment of Assets to determine whether 
an item or group of items of property, plant and equipment is impaired and, if so, how to recognise 
and measure the impairment loss. That section explains when and how an entity reviews the carrying 
amount of its assets, how it determines the recoverable amount of an asset, and when it recognises or 
reverses an impairment loss.” 

Assets held under the revaluation model will be impacted by fair value movements caused by the 
economic effects of the government recommendations and restrictions worldwide  

 

Practical implications 

Cost model 

As the emergence of COVID-19 will mean the presence of an impairment indicator, companies will 
need to calculate the “recoverable amount” of the assets. This is done in accordance with section 27 
of FRS 102. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. An entity must 
consider what the fair value is of the property. If this is lower than it may not be necessary to impair 
the asset provided the value in use exceeds the carrying value. 

In the event that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount then an impairment charge is 
required to be recognised in the P&L (or through the SOCE to the extent that the impairment reverses 
a previous revaluation). 

The impairment of PPE in the period after the year end but before approval should be reviewed to 
determine if there are indications of an adjusting post balance sheet event. 

 

Revaluation model 

Entities adopting the revaluation model are required to perform a valuation where the fair value of 
PPE at the balance sheet date differs materially from the carrying amount of the asset. Judgement will 
be required in this area, but whether a material change has occurred, would be deemed to be one 
which would influence the decisions of the users of the financial statements. In determining this, the 
company would generally consult their valuers and consider factors such as changes in the general 
market conditions, the condition of the asset, changes to the asset and its location. In order to provide 
sufficient detail to the entity’s auditors and in order to ensure values have not moved sufficiently, it is 
likely that management would be in contact with valuers who would provide information on the 
general market on an annual basis.  
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It is probable that COVID-19 will have an impact on property valuations but the extent of this is unclear 
in the initial stages. The treatment of downward revaluations will depend on how valuations have 
historically been treated in the entity. See below extract from section 17.15F of FRS 102; 

“The decrease of an asset’s carrying amount as a result of a revaluation shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income to the extent of any previously recognised revaluation increase accumulated in 
equity, in respect of that asset. If a revaluation decrease exceeds the accumulated revaluation gains 
accumulated in equity in respect of that asset, the excess shall be recognised in profit or loss.” 

Any downward valuation is firstly recognised in OCI to the extent that it reverses a previously 
recognised upward revaluation. Any excess is expensed to the P&L. 

 

Example: A decline in the asset’s market value (Section 27.9 (a) of FRS 102) 

Company A purchased a specialised piece of property, plant of equipment for CU300,000 during the 
year. At the end of year 1, the supplier dropped its price for that type of equipment to CU200,000. In 
this case, this would indicate a possible impairment. As a result an impairment may be required. This 
drop in price does not automatically mean an impairment loss as it is likely the value in use of the 
asset when taken together with a CGU for the Company will be higher so therefore no impairment 
may be required.  

If we assume that the piece of property is now abandoned and no longer in use within the CGU, then 
the fair value of that asset itself would be used to determine the amount of the impairment loss. The 
value in use for the CGU cannot be used as the asset is no longer providing any economic benefit, 
therefore its recoverable amount is the fair value of assets in the balance sheet relating to the property 
less cost to sell. 

Similarly assume Company A has an office block which it uses. Due to a significant reduction in 
property prices, there are indications that this asset is stated above its carrying amount. In this case, 
this would be an indicator of an impairment, however, this does not necessarily mean a write down is 
required as it is part of a CGU (that being the overall factory etc.). 

Prior to COVID-19, the CGU was showing a positive value in use with significant headroom between 
the carrying value of the assets and the value in use. The company has been hit hard by COVID-19 and 
part of the company’s business has been lost. When it performs its value in use calculations, the results 
show that the current carrying value exceeds the value in use. As a result, an impairment is required. 

 

Example: Accounting for revaluations and subsequent movements – depreciable assets  

Company A has adopted a policy of revaluation on its PPE. The company purchased an asset for 
CU500,000 at the start of year 1 and determined the useful life to be 20 years. By the end of year one, 
there were indications of a change in market conditions and a valuation exercise was performed which 
showed the market value at CU525,000. At the end of year 4, a further valuation was performed as 
the difference in fair value and the carrying value was material, at this time the value was reduced to 
CU300,000. In year 8, a further valuation was performed which indicated a fair value of CU600,000. 

Assume the deferred tax rate is 10% (this is not the sales rate as the asset is depreciated) and the asset 
does not qualify for capital allowances. Assume the depreciation on the revalued amount is 
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transferred from the revaluation reserve to profit and loss reserves on a year by year basis as the 
depreciation is charged. 

 

Company A would account for the changes in value in the following way: 

At end of year 1: 

The carrying value of the asset is CU475,000 (i.e. CU500,000 less depreciation for one year of CU25,000 
(CU500,000/20yrs)) 

CU   CU 

Dr Fixed Assets    50,000  

(CU525,000-CU475,000) 

Cr OCI/Revaluation Reserve     50,000 

From then on the carrying amount of CU525,000 will be depreciated over the remaining life of 19 
years (CU27,632 per annum). 

 

Deferred tax 

CU   CU 

Dr OCI/Revaluation Reserve  5,000  

Cr Deferred Tax in Balance Sheet    5,000 

(CU50,000 *10%) 

Therefore, the net amount posted to the revaluation reserve is CU45,000 (CU50,000-CU5,000). For 
year 2 to year 4, the deferred tax will be reduced and posted to the profit and loss account in line with 
the additional depreciation charged on the uplift in value of CU2,632 (i.e. CU27,632 less depreciation 
under cost basis of CU25,000). 

 

At end of year 4: 

The carrying value of the asset is CU442,104 (i.e. CU525,000 less depreciation of CU27,632 for three 
years totalling CU82,896) 

 

CU   CU 

Dr Profit and Loss   100,000 

Dr Revaluation Reserve    42,104 

(reversal of amount recognised in yr 1 of CU50,000 less depreciation reclassified from P&L of CU 2,632 
for 3 years.)  

Cr Fixed Assets       142,104 
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From then on the carrying amount of CU300,000 will be depreciated over the remaining life of 16 
years (CU18,750 per annum). 

 

Deferred tax 

CU  CU 

Dr Deferred Tax in Balance Sheet   4,211 

(CU5,000 less (CU2,632 * 10%) * 3 years) = 789 

Cr OCI/Revaluation Reserve      4,211 

Note deferred tax asset on the write down is not recognised on the basis that it is not reasonable that 
future economic benefits will be derived from the capital losses. 

 

At end of year 8: 

The carrying value of the asset is CU225,000 (i.e. CU300,000 less depreciation of CU18,750 for 4 years 
totalling CU75,000) 

CU   CU 

Dr Fixed Assets    375,000 

(CU600,000 mkt value-CU225,000 NBV) 

Cr Profit and Loss      75,000 

(CU100,000 previously posted-CU25,000 See Note 1 below) 

Cr Revaluation Reserve      300,000 

(CU375,000-CU75,000) 

 

Deferred tax 

      CU   CU 

Dr OCI/Revaluation Reserve  10,000  

Cr Deferred Tax in Balance sheet    10,000 

((CU600,000-CU500,000 original cost) * 10%) 

 

From then on the carrying amount of CU600,000 will be depreciated over the remaining life of 12 
years. 
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Note 1: The amount that can be credited to the P&L is reduced by the additional depreciation that 
would have been charged had the asset not been revalued downward in the past i.e. original cost prior 
to downward revaluation of CU500,000 / useful life of 20 years= CU25,000 * 4 years = CU100,000. This 
compares to depreciation charged while the asset was being depreciated on the reduced amount of 
CU75,000 (year 5 to year 8 – CU300,000/UEL of 16 years* 4 years) = CU25,000 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

Section 1A of FRS 102 requires disclosure of the following in relation to Property, Plant and Equipment- 
balances brought forward, additions, depreciation charge, impairments, revaluations, disposals, add 
back of depreciation and closing balances to be disclosed for each class of Fixed asset. No need for 
prior year comparative 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 18- Intangible Assets other than Goodwill  

 

Summary of this section 

Section 18 deals the recognition, measurement, amortisation and disclosure for intangible assets 
other than goodwill. Section 18.2 defines an intangible asset as an identifiable non- monetary asset 
without physical substance. To count as identifiable, it must be separable, and must arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. To count as 
identifiable, it must be separable, or must arise from contractual or other legal rights. 

Section 18.4 states that an intangible asset is only recognised if it is probable that its expected future 
economic benefits will flow to the owner, and if its cost or value can be measured reliably. 

For internally generated intangible, costs incurred in the research phase must be expensed. 

For internally generated intangibles there is a choice with regard to the cost incurred in the 
development stage; either to expense or capitalise assuming the capitalisation criteria in Section 
18.18H are satisfied. 

An intangible should be measured initially at cost and subsequently at either cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment or at fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated amortisation or impairments provided the fair value can be determined by reference to 
an active market. With respect to acquisition of intangibles through a business combination they 
should initially be measured at fair value. 

Where the revaluation model is taken, revaluations need to be carried out with sufficient regularity 
to ensure the carrying amount at each reporting period equates to the fair value and needs to be done 
for similar assets of the same class. 

Movements as a result adopting the revaluation model should be posted to the OCI and any decrease 
in value below cost is posted to the profit and loss. 

Internally generated brands, logos, customer lists cannot be capitalised (Section 18.8C). Impairment 
review only to be carried out if indicators of impairment exist as detailed in Section 27. More 
intangibles to be recognised on business combinations 

Amortisation presumed to be a max of 10 years if an estimate cannot be reliably measured. 

A need to review useful lives of intangibles and goodwill to ensure they are still appropriate and no 
indicators of change has occurred at the end of each reporting period. 

An intangible cannot have an indefinite life. 

Under Section 18, the residual value is assumed to be zero unless: there is a commitment by a third 
party to purchase the asset at the end of its useful life, or there is an active market for the asset and 
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residual value can be determined by reference to that market and it is probable that such a market 
will exist at the end of asset’s useful life. 

 

How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main effect of COVID-19 on this section will be the potential impairment of intangible assets 
caused by the economic impact of COVID-19. Also, there is the potential for a revision to residual 
values where this has been used as part of the amortisation calculation. 

 

Practical implications 

After initial recognition, an entity is required to measure intangible assets using the cost model or the 
revaluation model. The revaluation model does not generally feature for intangible assets as it is often 
difficult to reliably measure an intangible asset. If using the cost model, the asset is carried at cost less 
amortisation less impairment losses. In assessing for impairment, section 18 refers to section 27- 
impairment of assets in order to determine if an asset is impaired.  

This involves the entity assessing the recoverable amount of the of the intangible asset (higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use) to determine if this is higher than the carrying value. Where 
the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount then an impairment loss must be charged to the 
P&L. 

Entities that have previously used value in use to determine the recoverable amount may need to 
recognise an impairment charge as COVID-19 is likely to impact negatively on cashflow projections. 

Another potential area impacted by COVID-19 is the impact on residual values where this has been 
recognised in accordance with section 18.23. Residual values must be €nill unless 

a. there is a commitment by a third party to purchase the asset at the end of its useful life or  

b. there is an active market for the asset and the residual value can be determined by reference 
to that market and it is probable that such a market will exist at the end of the asset’s useful 
life.  

Given the significant change in the economic environment following COVID-19, this may have a 
negative impact on residual values which may affect amortisation calculations. 
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Example- Revising residual value of an asset 

In year 1 an asset was purchased for CU100,000. It had an estimated life of 6 years. It’s estimated 
residual value was estimated to be CU10,000 and the residual value could be used as there was an 
active market. This residual value was assessed for indicators of change at each year end and there 
were no issues up to the end of year 4. At the start of year 5, following COVID-19, the market for this 
type of asset the residual value decreased to CU2,000 (being the present value of future residual 
amount). At the end of year 4, the asset had a carrying amount of as follows: 

 

Cost    CU100,000 

Residual Value   (CU10,000) 

Depreciable Amount  CU90,000 

Depreciation 

(CU90,000 / 6 yrs * 4 yrs) (CU60,000) 

Carrying Amount  CU30,000 

 

At the start of year 5, the residual amount is CU2,000, therefore the depreciable amount is CU98,000. 
Deducting amortisation charged to date of CU60,000 leaves CU38,000 to be depreciated over the 
remaining useful life of 2 years. Therefore, amortisation of CU19,000 is charged in year 5 and year 6. 
Disclosure of the change in estimate would be required in the financial statements. 

 

If we take this example and assume the residual value increases to CU50,000, then the carrying 
amount in year 5 of CU30,000 is in excess of the residual amount. Therefore, no amortisation is 
required in year 5 and 6 and any over amortisation is not reversed. Disclosure of the change in 
estimate would be required in the financial statements detailing the effect on current and future 
periods.  

 

Example- impairment to intangible assets following COVID-19  

Company A owns a patent which is held at cost of CU100,000. In previous years impairment reviews, 
the carrying amount was below the recoverable amount (based on a value in use of CU150,000). 

COVID-19 has had an impact on the future cashflow projections on this company and when these are 
taken into consideration then the value in use is CU75,000. A fair value cannot be determined due to 
the lack of an active market. 

As the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment loss must be charged to the P&L 
(being the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount- CU25,000). 
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Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying section 1A of FRS 102, the following disclosures are required- balances brought forward, 
additions, amortisation charge, disposals, impairments, revaluations and closing balances. No need 
for prior year comparatives showing the movement 

There is also a requirement to show the impairment/reversal of impairment charge. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 19- Business Combinations and goodwill  

 

Summary of this section 

Section 19 deals with business combinations. 

A business combination is the bringing together of separate entities or businesses into one reporting 
entity (Section 19.3). All business combinations (other than those that meet the definition of a group 
reconstruction, and public benefit entities) are accounted using the purchase method of accounting. 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

Goodwill is the difference between the acquirer’s interest in the net amount of identifiable assets 
acquired and the cost of the business combination. After initial recognition it is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairments; 

Acquired assets/liabilities etc. are initially measured at fair value except deferred tax and employee 
benefits; 

The purchase method of accounting is to be used on all acquisitions with the exception of certain 
group reconstructions and public benefit entities; 

Contingent consideration is recognised in the purchase cost if probable that it can be reliably 
measured with subsequent adjustments going to goodwill (Section 19.12). Contingent consideration 
may need to be present valued depending on the time period; 

Adjustments to the estimates of fair values can be made within 12 months of the acquisition however 
if the adjustment straddles the following year they must be adjusted for retrospectively; 

Measure non-controlling interest at share of net assets; 

Cost of business combination is the total of fair value of assets given, liabilities assumed and equity 
instruments issued at each stage of the transaction plus directly attributable costs; 

Test for impairment in line with Section 27 only if impairment indicators exist; 

Negative goodwill is firstly allocated against the fair value of the non-monetary assets in period in 
which non-monetary assets recovered and the balance against the period in which the entity is likely 
to benefit; 

Less onerous disclosures under Section 19 than was under FRS 7 (old GAAP); 

Recognise deferred tax on difference between fair values on acquisition and tax base and set this 
against goodwill; 

Likely to be more amortisation in the profit and loss account due to more intangibles recognised as 
criteria not as strict as well as a rebuttable assumption where a useful life cannot be reliably measured 
of 10 years; 

Direct transaction costs capitalised; and 

Merger accounting permitted for group reconstructions where the ultimate equity holders remain the 
same. Under this method fair valuing is not required. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The main effect of COVID-19 on this section will be the potential impairment of goodwill arising from 
business combinations. Section 19 requires that once goodwill is initially recognised the acquirer shall 
measure goodwill acquired in a business combination at cost less accumulated amortisation losses 
and accumulated impairment. 

The effects of COVID-19 could also have an impact on the expected useful life of an intangible asset. 

 

Practical implications 

After initial recognition, Section 19 requires that once goodwill is initially recognised the acquirer shall 
measure goodwill acquired in a business combination at cost less accumulated amortisation losses 
any accumulated impairment. An impairment is required to be considered in accordance with section 
27- Impairment of Assets for recognising and measuring the impairment of goodwill. If there are 
indicators of impairment then an entity is required to carry out an impairment review. 

Unless the acquired entity is not affected by COVID-19, it is likely that an impairment indicator will be 
present which will require an impairment review to be carried out. 

This will involve, comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill to its recoverable amount (higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use). If this identifies an impairment then this should be 
recognised in the profit and loss account. 

 

When considering the impairment of goodwill, we must remain aware of the specific requirements in 
sections 27.21 and 27.24 to 27.28 of FRS 102 relating to goodwill. This provides for the following 
additional requirements that apply when impairing goodwill; 

- Impairment losses should first be recognised against goodwill and then against other assets 
of the CGU on a pro-rata basis if measuring value in use. 

- On acquisition, the goodwill arising from an acquisition shall be allocated to each of the 
acquired cash generating units. 

- Where assets are partially held by a non-controlling interest then the carrying amount of that 
asset should be notionally adjusted before being compared to its recoverable amount. 

- If goodwill cannot be allocated to an individual CGU then goodwill shall be tested by 
determining the recoverable amount of either; 

o The acquired entity in its entirety if goodwill relates to an entity that has not been 
integrated. 

o The entire group of entities, excluding any entities that have not been integrated if 
the goodwill relates to an entity that has been integrated. 

o (Integrated means the acquired business has been restructured or dissolved into the 
reporting entity or other subsidiaries). 

COVID-19 may also cause an entity to revise it’s useful life estimate of goodwill. This may arise due to 
a number of factors such as economic uncertainty, changes in consumer behaviours, changes in 
intended asset use following COVID-19 etc. 
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Section 19.23 of FRS 102 makes it clear that goodwill is considered to have a finite life and specifies 
that where a useful life cannot be determined then a useful life should not exceed 10 years. This 
cannot be chosen as a default, instead a good effort has to be made to determine a useful life. 

Where a change in useful life of goodwill is determined due to a change in estimate this should be 
adjusted for prospectively. See example below. 

 

Example: Revising the useful life of goodwill 

In year 1,  goodwill was recognised on acquisition CU100,000. It had an estimated life of 10 years. Its 
estimated residual value was estimated to be nil. This useful life was assessed for indicators of change 
at each year end and there were no issues up to the end of year 4. At the start of year 5, due to a 
detailed assessment of the remaining life’s of goodwill, the useful life was reassessed at 4 years instead 
of 6 years at that time, the asset had a carrying amount as follows: 

Cost       CU100,000 

Residual Value       (-) 

Depreciable Amount     CU100,000 

Depreciation (100,000 / 10 yrs * 4 yrs)  (CU40,000) 

Carrying Amount     CU60,000 

In year 5, the useful life was assessed as 4 years instead of 6 years (there were no issues with regard 
to impairment). Deducting amortisation charged to date of CU40,000 leaves CU60,000 to be amortised 
over the updated remaining useful life of 4 years. Therefore, amortisation of CU15,000 
(CU60,000/4yrs) for the remaining four years. Disclosure of the change in estimate would be required 
in the financial statements detailing the effect on current and future years i.e. that the amortisation 
charge increased from CU10,000 to CU15,000 for the remaining years and the assets will be written 
down to nil in 4 years time as opposed to the original 6 years. 
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Example: Impairment loss for a CGU with goodwill  

In year 1 Parent A acquired company X for CU100,000. On acquisition 3 CGU’s were identified called 
CGU 1, CGU 2 and CGU 3. The fair value of the assets acquired was CU60,000 and goodwill of CU40,000 
was recognised on acquisition and set against each CGU. The goodwill was allocated to each CGU 
based on the synergies expected to be achieved which ultimately was allocated 1/3rd to each CGU. 

In year 2, due to a change in the market trends the demand for the product produced by CGU 1 
reduced significantly. The value in use calculations indicate a recoverable amount of CU9,000. At that 
date the carrying amount of the goodwill and identifiable assets were CU10,000 and CU20,000 (split 
between asset A&B of CU12,000 and CU8,000) respectively. Therefore, the total impairment to be 
booked is CU21,000 (CU10,000+CU20,000-CU9,000 recoverable amount).  

The calculation of the allocation of the impairment loss of CGU 1 is carried out as follows:  

Carrying value  Impairment   Carrying amount  

after impairment  

Goodwill   CU10,000   (CU10,000)*   CUnil  

Asset A    CU12,000   (CU6,600)**   CU5,400  

Asset B    CU8,000   (CU4,400)***   CU3,600  

*impairment set against goodwill first and remaining amount set against all other assets on a pro-rata 
basis.  

**impairment allocated pro-rata to identifiable assets e.g. asset A= (CU21,000-CU10,000 allocated to 
goodwill) * (CU12,000/(CU12,000+CU8,000)) = CU6,600.  

***impairment allocated pro-rata to identifiable assets e.g. asset A= (CU21,000-CU10,000 allocated 
to goodwill) * (CU8,000/(CU12,000+CU8,000)) = CU4,400. 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying section 1A of FRS 102, the following disclosures are required in the notes to the accounts 
relating to business combinations and goodwill- balances brought forward, additions, amortisation 
charge, disposals, impairments, revaluations and closing balances. No need for prior year 
comparatives showing the movement 

There is also a requirement to show the impairment/reversal of impairment charge. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 21- Provisions and contingencies 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 21 applies to all provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, except those covered 
by other sections of FRS 102. For example, leases, construction contracts, employee benefits and 
income tax. It does not apply to executory contracts unless they are onerous contracts. 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

A provision should be recognised where there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event and where a transfer of economic benefits is probable to settle the obligation 
and the obligation can be reliably measured. A tree showing the decision making process is set out 
below. 

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the 
reporting date and should take into account the time value of money where material. The provision is 
then adjusted at each reporting date. The unwinding of any discount is included within finance costs. 

Contingent assets are not recognised and instead disclosed if their likelihood is probable. 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources is considered 
remote in which case no disclosure is required. A contingent liability arises where the outflow of 
economic benefits cannot be measured reliably or it is not probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required. 

Section 21.17 allows companies not to disclose certain details in relation to provisions, contingent 
liabilities and assets on the basis it would be prejudicial to a dispute. However, disclosure is required 
detailing why the entity feels the disclosures cannot be detailed. 

The standard provides examples of circumstances in which a provision is required to be made. 
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

This section of FRS 102 may impact on entities as it may give rise to an increased possibility of 
provisions in the area of onerous contracts;  

 

Onerous contracts- Appendix 1 to FRS 102 defines an onerous contract as one in which the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligation under the contract exceed the economic benefits 
expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of 
exiting from the contract. This is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties 
arising from failure to fulfil it. It is irrelevant as to whether an entity intends to make the cheapest 
choice or not, the least net cost is the only amount that should be provided for. The economic benefits 
to be considered are both the direct and indirect benefits. Where such a contract exists the future 
operating losses on these contracts should be provided for as stated in Section 21.11A of FRS 102. 

The potential effects of COVID-19 on onerous contracts are set out below. 

 

Practical implications 

Onerous leases 

The effect of COVID-19 may result in some entities recognising onerous leases arising from the closure 
of factories or operations. Where an entity has committed to a lease agreement for a period of time 
and subsequently decides not to use the property then the company must recognise a provision for 
the lower of the cost to terminate the lease or the future lease amounts payable. 

 

Example of onerous lease 

Company A entered into a lease on a factory in year 1 for a 10 year period for CU100,000 per annum 
which it used to manufacture parts for heavy construction machinery. At the end of year 4, following 
the development of COVID-19, the company decided to cease manufacturing the product and focus 
on servicing the machinery instead. At the end of year 4, the entity no longer has any use for the 
property and cannot sublease it but are contractually tied in for a further 6 years from that date. The 
company has discussed with the landlord as to the cost of terminating the lease early which they 
stated would be CU500,000.  

As the entity is contractually committed to pay the lease, there is a present obligation as a result of a 
past event i.e. the signing of the contract to take on the lease for 10 years for which no further benefits 
will be obtained and a reliable estimate can be determined, a provision should be recognised for the 
lower of the cost to terminate of CU500,000 or the future lease amounts payable for 6 years of 
CU600,000. Therefore a provision should be recognised for CU500,000 and should be present valued 
where it is considered material. 

 

Future operating losses 

If future operating losses are expected as a result of COVID-19 then these should not be provided for. 
The reasoning for not allowing operating losses to be provided for is due to the fact that the entity has 
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the choice to cease trading immediately/earlier and therefore it would not have to incur these losses. 
Hence there is no present obligation. This contrasts with provision for onerous leases where the entity 
has a contractual obligation to hold on to the lease for its life. 

 

Liabilities arising from an inability to fulfil an order 

If circumstances arise during COVID-19 whereby an entity is unable to fulfil an order as a result of 
COVID-19 and there is a contractual liability arising from this then there is likely to be a provision (as 
there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and where a transfer of economic benefits is 
probable to settle the obligation and the obligation can be reliably measured). 

 

Example- compensation due to customer 

Company A entered into an agreement to supply Company B with 300,000 concrete blocks per month. 
In the contract there is a condition that if Company A is unable to fulfil the order then they are required 
to pay compensation to Company B of 25 cents per block that falls short of the agreed limit. Company 
A closed temporarily during COVID-19 and was unable to fulfil the order. Company B remained open 
as it was deemed an essential service. Company A was only able to fulfil 50,000 of the concrete block 
order for the month of April. 

Company A fell short of the order by 250,000 units and as a result, compensation of CU62,500 is 
payable (250,000 * 25 cents). The journals to recognise this in the records of Company A are; 

 

Dr. P&L    62,500 

Cr. Provisions on balance sheet  62,500 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying Section 1A of FRS 102, the provision for liabilities as shown in Sch 3A Formats for the 
balance sheet should show the split between; taxation (including deferred tax); retirement benefit 
obligations and other provision for liabilities. Note if there is deferred tax included within taxation 
here then there is no need to disclose deferred tax separately.  

The detailed reconciliation note required under FRS 102 is not required under section 1A. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 27- Impairment of assets 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 27 deals with the measuring, recognising and disclosing impairments for all assets with the 
exception of: 

• assets arising from construction contracts covered by Section 23; 
• deferred tax assets covered by section 29; 
• Asset arising from employee benefits covered by Section 28; 
• Financial assets within the scope of Section 11 and Section 12 dealing with financial 
• instruments; 
• Investment property measured at fair value under Section 16; 
• Biological assets relating to agricultural activity dealth with in Section 34; and 
• Impairment of deferred acquisition costs and intangible assets arising from insurance 

contracts which are dealt with in FRS 103. 

 

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

Impairment review only required to be performed if indicators of an impairment exists. 

Indicators of impairment as defined in Section 27.9 are: 

• An asset’s market value has declined significantly more than would be expected as a result 
of the passage of time; 

• Significant changes occurred/are due to occur in technology, market, economic or legal 
environment; 

• Market interest rates have increased during the period which are likely to affect 
• materially the discount rate and value in use; 
• The carrying amount of the net assets is more than the estimated fair value of the entity as a 

whole; 
• Evidence available of obsolescence and damage of an asset; 
• Significant changes with adverse effect on the entity have or is due to take place which, in 

the extent to which an asset is used/expected to be used e.g. plans to restructure, make idle 
or discontinue an operation; 

• Reassessment of an asset from infinite to finite; and 
• Evidence showing the economic environment of an asset is worse than expected. 

A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets. 

An impairment exists if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. 
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Fair value less costs to sell is based on the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable and willing parties. 

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 

If an impairment loss arises on a cash generating unit, it is allocated first against goodwill and then 
against other assets of the unit, pro rata based on their carrying values. 

For individual assets, reversals are recognised in profit or loss (or in other comprehensive income, 
for previously revalued assets in accordance with the requirements of the relevant section). The 
asset carrying value is never restored to more than what it would have been had the impairment 
never occurred. 

For cash generating units, the reversal is allocated pro-rata to the assets in the unit, excluding 
goodwill. 

Future of cash flows included in the value in use calculation cannot include future cash flows from 
future restructuring or improvements to the asset’s performance. The pre-tax discount rate should be 
used.  
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

The area of impairment is likely to be one of the key sections of FRS 102 impacted by COVID-19.  

One of the external indicators of impairment as set out in section 27.9 of FRS 102 is;  

“Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken place during the period, or will 
take place in the near future, in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which 
the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated.”  

COVID-19 is likely to meet this definition of an external indicator of impairment and as a result, an 
impairment review of entities assets will be required. 

This may result in a decline in asset values. 

If the impairment has happened after the financial year but before sign off, entities will need to 
consider the impairment in the context of section 32- Events after then end of the reporting period to 
determine if the impairment meets the criteria for an adjusting event.  

 

Practical implications 

In considering if an asset is impaired, the recoverable amount should be compared to the carrying 
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. 
The carrying amount is the amount that the balance is held at in the balance sheet. 

In determining the recoverable amount, the entity takes the higher of “fair value less costs to sell” and 
“value in use”. In doing this, the entity should first consider what the “fair value less costs to sell” of 
an asset is. 

Fair Value less Costs to sell 

Detailed in section 27.14 of FRS 102 

“Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. The best evidence of 
the fair value less costs to sell of an asset is a price in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length 
transaction or a market price in an active market. If there is no binding sale agreement or active market 
for an asset, fair value less costs to sell is based on the best information available to reflect the amount 
that an entity could obtain, at the reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. In 
determining this amount, an entity considers the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets 
within the same industry.” 

If Fair Value less Costs to sell is less than the carrying value then the entity should consider what the 
value in use of the asset is. 

Note- if establishing fair value is difficult during the lockdown period- refer to the Section 2 Quick 
Guide. 

 

Value in Use 

Detailed in section 27.15 of FRS 102 
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“Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset. This 
present value calculation involves the following steps: (a) estimating the future cash inflows and 
outflows to be derived from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal; and (b) applying 
the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.” 

If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value then an impairment is required to be 
recognised through the profit and loss account. If the impairment relates to an asset that has 
previously been revalued then the revaluation portion shall reversed through the statement of 
changes in equity with the balance recognized as an impairment through the profit and loss account. 

If the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount then no impairment is required.  

It is likely that any assets with a recoverable amount based on value in use will be impaired following 
COVID-19 as VIU is based on cashflows which are likely to be negatively affected as a result. 
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Examples 

Value in Use- Determining cash flow to include 

Company A is a manufacturing company providing special plywood to the construction industry. 
During the year there was a large slump in the construction market which was an indicator of 
impairment. The company has prepared the estimated cash flow and has included the below in the 
cash flow. Determine which ones will be allowed to be included as part of the value in use 
calculation. 

 

- The company intends to restructure the company and lay 20 employees off which will 
result in cost savings of CU200,000 per annum. 
 
Solution: Neither the costs of the reconstruction or the cost savings can be incorporated 
into estimated future cash flows as the entity was not demonstratively committed to it 
i.e. it was not provided for in the year end financial statements .See Section 27.19 of FRS 
102 
 

- Next year the company has planned to purchase and install a whole new production line 
which will allow the company to diversify the type of products it produces such that it can 
supply material to a separate industry. (Section 27.9 (b) of FRS 102)  

 

Solution: Section 27.19 does not allow planned future capital expenditure which 
enhances the cash flow potential to be incorporated into the cash flow. Neither does it 
allow the future additional cash inflows from the proposed expenditure. 

 

- The cost of replacing a component of the main production line which is depreciated at a 
different rate to the main line has been included in the cash flows.  

 

Solution: Given that this is a component that is separately depreciated from the main 
production line and it does not enhance the performance of the line above the 
performance at the date of the value in use calculation, this should be included in the 
estimated cash outflows. Note the cash flows should incorporate these based on the life 
of that component so if these parts had to be changed every five years, it would have to 
be included in the cash flow every five year. See Section 27.17 of FRS 102  

 
- Assumed a growth rate of 10% per annum for 10 years. The terminal value amount is 

increased by a further 10% 
 

Solution: When determining whether this cash flow is appropriate, one would have to look at the 
industry in which the company operates. Given that the market has slumped it would be very 
unusual for a 10% growth rate to be assumed. On this basis it is likely that these growth rates would 
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need to actually show a reduction for at least the first few years as opposed to an increase. The 
10% growth rate for 10 years also seems to be for too long a period. IAS 36 would state that a 
growth rate should not be incorporated for more than 5 years and as stated in Section 27 from 
then on a steady rate or declining growth rate should be used. Therefore these growth rates would 
have to be reduced and usually after 5 years decreasing or no further growth should be assumed. 
However each circumstance would need to be assessed individually based on the industry in which 
the entity operates. (Section 27.17 (b) of FRS 102)  

 

- The repairs and maintenance costs is very large when compared to the depreciation 
charged on the assets during the prior year. 

 
Solution: Although this is an allowable cash flow usually the repairs and maintenance cost 
included in the cash flow should some way equate to the yearly depreciation charge. 
 

- In calculating the cash flows, the company incorporated the working capital 
requirements/movements but they compared the present value of the cash flows to the 
carrying amount they have not included the debtors/creditors/inventory and other 
working capital items within the carrying amount. 

 

Solution: This is incorrect as the company should compare like with like. In this instance 
the company should take the net assets relating to the CGU so that they are comparing 
like with like. 

 

- The company has used a post-tax discount rate 
 

Solution: This is incorrect as a pre-tax discount rate should be used. (see Section 27.20 of 
FRS 102)  

 

- The company has not incorporated any inflation into its workings 
 

Solution: The entity must incorporate the effects of inflation into its cash flows under the 
see Section 27.20 of FRS 102). Therefore, the expected future inflation needs to be 
incorporated. 

 

- The company has included tax payments into the cash flow 
 

Solution: The inclusion of tax cash flows is not allowed under Section 27.18 of FRS 
102.                        

 

- The company has included exceptional income with regard to a return on investment 
within the terminal value amount as this was included in the last forecasted period. 
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Solution: The terminal value amount must exclude all abnormal or exceptional items 
included in the last forecasted periods cash flows as this incorrectly inflates the terminal 
value amount. (See Section 27.8.2.6)  

- The company in its cash flow used the profit before tax, amortisation and depreciation. 
 

Solution: This is incorrect as the cash flows should incorporate the earnings before 
interest, tax, amortisation and depreciation as financing activities should be excluded 
together with any non-cash costs, as stated in Section 27.18 of FRS 102. 

 

The interest income and expense should therefore have also been excluded in the above 
example. 

 

 

Impairment loss for a CGU with goodwill 

In year 1 Parent A acquired company X for CU100,000. On acquisition 3 CGU’s were identified called 
CGU 1, CGU 2 and CGU 3. The fair value of the assets acquired was CU60,000 and goodwill of CU40,000 
was recognised on acquisition and set against each CGU.  The goodwill was allocated to each CGU 
based on the synergies expected to be achieved which ultimately was allocated 1/3rd to each CGU.  

 

In year 2, due to a change in the market trends the demand for the product produced by CGU 1 
reduced significantly. The value in use calculations indicate a recoverable amount of CU9,000. At 
that date the carrying amount of the goodwill and identifiable assets were CU10,000 and CU20,000 
(split between asset A&B of CU12,000 and CU8,000) respectively. Therefore, the total impairment to 
be booked is CU21,000 (CU10,000+CU20,000-CU9,000 recoverable amount). 

 

The calculation of the allocation of the impairment loss of CGU 1 is carried out as follows: 

 

 Carrying value Impairment Carrying amount after 
impairment 

Goodwill CU10,000 (CU10,000)* CUnil 

Asset A CU12,000 (CU6,600)** CU5,400 

Asset B CU8,000 (CU4,400)*** CU3,600 

Total    

 

*impairment set against goodwill first and remaining amount set against all other assets on a pro-rata 
basis. 
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**impairment allocated pro-rata to identifiable assets e.g. asset A= (CU21,000-CU10,000 allocated to 
goodwill) * (CU12,000/(CU12,000+CU8,000)) = CU6,600.  

 

***impairment allocated pro-rata to identifiable assets e.g. asset A= (CU21,000-CU10,000 allocated 
to goodwill) * (CU8,000/(CU12,000+CU8,000)) = CU4,400.  

 

 
Example- stock impairment 
 
Company A has inventory of wine and chocolate of CU100,000 at the year-end of March 2020. 
Following the developments of COVID-19, the company’s market had diminished significantly. The 
company has identified that it can sell the wine and chocolates as Easter hampers, to avoid them going 
out of date. The sales price of the hampers will be CU80,000 but there is an additional cost of CU20,000 
associated with packaging them. The directors are satisfied that this is an adjusting event. 
 
In this example, the carrying value is CU100,000. The sales price (CU80,000) less costs to complete 
(CU20,000) is CU60,000. A stock impairment should be recognised of CU40,000 and incurred in the 
year ended March 2020 accounts. 
 

Example- Associate Impairment if adopting the cost model 

Company A holds a 40% investment in Company B (cost CU500,000). At the year end Company B’s 
performance was far less than expected and a significant loss was incurred as a result of a period of 
closure arising from the outbreak of COVID-19. As a result Company B’s net assets was CU800,000. 
The significant loss made by Company B is an impairment indicator. As it is likely that it would be 
difficult to determine the fair value less cost to sell in an active market, the value in use model should 
be utilised to determine whether an impairment is required. In this particular case, it may be 
appropriate to impair the investment down to the net asset amount of CU320,000 (CU800,000 *40%) 
assuming that the value in use calculations do not support the non-impairment. Given the loss making 
position of company B, it is likely that the cash generating unit will not generate a favourable value in 
use calculation and an impairment to CU320,000 will be required. 

 

Example: A decline in the asset’s market value (Section 27.9 (a) of FRS 102) 

Company A purchased a specialised piece of property, plant of equipment for CU300,000 during the 
year. At the end of year 1, the supplier dropped its price for that type of equipment to CU200,000. In 
this case, this would indicate a possible impairment. As a result an impairment may be required. This 
drop in price does not automatically mean an impairment loss as it is likely the value in use of the 
asset when taken together with a CGU for the Company will be higher so therefore no impairment 
may be required.  

If we assume that the piece of property is now abandoned and no longer in use within the CGU, then 
the fair value of that asset itself would be used to determine the amount of the impairment loss. The 
value in use for the CGU cannot be used as the asset is no longer providing any economic benefit, 
therefore its recoverable amount is the fair value of assets in the balance sheet relating to the property 
less cost to sell. 
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Similarly assume Company A has an office block which it uses. Due to a significant reduction in 
property prices, there are indications that this asset is stated above its carrying amount. In this case, 
this would be an indicator of an impairment, however, this does not necessarily mean a write down is 
required as it is part of a CGU (that being the overall factory etc.). 

Prior to COVID-19, the CGU was showing a positive value in use with significant headroom between 
the carrying value of the assets and the value in use. The company has been hit hard by COVID-19 and 
part of the company’s business has been lost. When it performs its value in use calculations, the results 
show that the current carrying value exceeds the value in use. As a result, an impairment is required. 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

The impairment disclosure requirements under Section 1A of FRS 102 are similar to full FRS 102. 
Details of impairment of all types of all fixed assets held as well as the impairment charges during 
the year are required to be disclosed. 
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FRS102.com- Covid-19 update 

Section 28- Employee benefits 

 

Summary of this section 

Section 28 deals with the recognition, measurement and disclosure of employees benefits to include 
the recognition and measurement of defined benefit and contribution pension schemes, short term 
employee benefits and termination benefits.  

What are the key points of this section of FRS 102? 

Short term employee benefits must be recognised together with the deferred tax impact. This will 
require a transition adjustment where carryover of annual leave occurs. 

In relation to defined contribution schemes contributions payable for each period are generally 
recognised as an expense and a liability. Where they are not likely to be paid for a further 12 months 
they should be discounted. 

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. 
Generally, in a defined benefit plan, the employer has an obligation to provide an agreed level of 
benefits to employees. This means the employer bears actuarial risk and investment risk, and may 
be required to increase contributions if the plan assets are too low to fulfil promises to employees. 

For an employer with a defined benefit scheme, the cost to recognise each period is the change in 
the value of the liability. 

The liability on the defined benefit scheme is measured at the present value of the plan obligations 
less the fair value at the reporting date of the plan assets (there is detailed guidance in the section 
on measurement of these assets and liabilities). 

The cost relating to movements in the net liability on the defined benefit scheme is recognised in 
profit or loss, except for the effects of re-measurement, which are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Re-measurement comprises actuarial gains and losses and the return on 
plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net liability (calculated      as a single 
item by multiplying the net defined benefit liability by the discount rate used to determine the 
present value of the scheme liabilities). 

Group pensions schemes which are defined benefit in nature need to be accounted for in at least 
one of the group companies. 

For multi-employer schemes where sufficient information is not available to use defined benefit 
accounting, then it can be treated as a defined contribution scheme unless there is an agreement in 
place stating that it will fund the deficit, if so, then this amount needs to be provided for. 

Deferred tax on the pension scheme is shown as deferred tax on the balance sheet and not netted 
against the pension scheme carrying amount. 

Curtailments and settlement should be accounted for in the period where the adjustment is certain 
and posted to the profit and loss with disclosure of the amount charged/credited in the notes. 

An independent actuary is not required to perform the calculation and it does not dictate how often 
the comprehensive valuation must be performed.   
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How does COVID-19 impact on this section? 

COVID-19 may impact on a few areas of this section. In particular, there should be consideration of 
the effect of redundancies, payment of bonuses and the accounting treatment of the government 
wage subsidy. 

Depending on the nature of the above items, the accounting treatment may be impacted. 

 

Practical implications 

Treatment of redundancies 

For the avoidance of doubt, references to being made redundant below refer to staff made 
permanently redundant (and not to be confused with staff temporarily laid off who availed of the 
government subsidy scheme). 

If staff are made redundant as a result of COVID-19 then this should be recognised as a liability and an 
expense when the entity can demonstrate either of the following conditions; 

That they have committed to either 

(a) terminate the employment of an employee or group of employees before the normal retirement 
date; or  

(b) to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. 

To meet either of the above conditions, there must be a formal plan in place and it is not realistic that 
the firm can withdraw from this. This will usually occur after the staff have been notified in writing. 

 

Payment of bonuses (timing) 

Bonuses are usually treated as short term employment benefits as they are usually expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of the financial reporting period in which the services are 
rendered. 

As a result of the economic impact of COVID-19, this may mean that some bonus schemes are re-
negotiated or deferred to be paid at a later date. Where the bonus is not expected to be settled until 
after 12 months then this will need to be accounted for in line with section 28.29 of FRS 102 (Other 
long-term employee benefits).  

For all employee benefits payable in periods greater than 12 months, these need to be present valued 
at a discount rate which reflects the time value of money.   
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Examples 

Treatment of redundancies 

Company A has a year end of 31 March 2020. On 6th April 2020, they wrote to some employees 
informing them that they would be terminating their employment on 20th April 2020. The cost of the 
redundancies is CU20,000. 

As the entity demonstrated its commitment to terminate employment on 6th April 2020, the 
conditions of section 28.34 of FRS 102 were met on this date and on this date the liability and cost 
are recognised in the financial statements. 

Journal entry required on 6th April 2020 (Next financial year); 

Dr. Termination costs (P&L)- CU 20,000 

Cr. Liability (Balance Sheet)- CU 20,000 

 

Bonus payment 

Company B normally pay a bonus of CU 50,000 to key staff on completion of each financial year. 
Following the development of COVID-19, the company decided to preserve cashflow and not pay 
this bonus. Instead, they decided to reward staff with a bonus of CU50,000 which will be payable in 
3 years. 

As this bonus is not payable within 12 months of the year end, it should be classified in accordance 
with section 28.29 and 28.30 of FRS 102. A liability should be recognised on the balance sheet 
representing the present value of the obligation. Assume a year end of 31 March 2020, a present 
value rate of 5% and a bonus payment date of 31 March 2023. 

Applying a 5% present value rate arrives at a present value of CU43,192 (CU50,000/1.05 ^3). The 
journals to recognise this are; 

 

Year ended 31 March 2020 

Dr. Wages and salaries (P&L)- CU 43,192 

Cr. Long term liabilities-  CU 43,192 

 

Year ended 31 March 2021 

Dr. P&L -   2,160 

Cr. Long term liabilities-  2,160 

Year ended 31 March 2022 

Dr. P&L -   2,268 

Cr. Long term liabilities-  2,268 

Year ended 31 March 2023 
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Dr. P&L -   2,380 

Cr. Long term liabilities-  2,380 

 

 

Section 1A of FRS 102 disclosures 

If applying Section 1A of FRS 102, the provision for liabilities as shown in Sch 3A Formats for the 
balance sheet should show the split between; taxation (including deferred tax); retirement benefit 
obligations and other provision for liabilities.  

The detailed reconciliation note required under FRS 102 is not required under section 1A. 
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Directors Compliance Statement (Made In Accordance 
With Section 225 of the Companies Act, 2014)

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing 
compliance by the Company with its relevant obligations as are 
defined in the Companies Act, 2014 (the ‘Relevant Obligations’). 

The Directors confirm that they have drawn up and adopted a 
compliance policy statement setting out the Company’s policies 
that, in the Directors’ opinion, are appropriate to the Company with 
respect to compliance by the Company with its relevant obligations. 

The Directors further confirm the Company has put in place 
appropriate arrangements or structures that are, in the Directors’ 
opinion, designed to secure material compliance with its relevant 
obligations including reliance on the advice of persons employed 
by the Company and external legal and tax advisers as considered 
appropriate from time to time and that they have reviewed the 
effectiveness of these arrangements or structures during the 
financial year to which this report relates.

Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group has exposure to a 
variety of financial risks, including foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk. The Company’s financial 
risk objectives and policies are set out in Note 23 of the financial 
statements.

Post Balance Sheet Events

As outlined in the Group’s viability statement on pages 20 to 21, 
COVID-19 is having a material impact on the Group’s business post 
year end. In response to this, the Group has implemented a series of 
measures to reduce operating costs, maximise available cash flow, 
and maintain and strengthen the Group’s liquidity position. 

In March 2020, the Group completed the successful issue of 
approximately €140 million of new US Private Placement (‘USPP’) 
notes.

The Group has also received confirmation from the Bank of England 
that it is eligible to issue commercial paper under the COVID-19 
Corporate Financing Facility scheme. The Group had not drawn 
down on this facility as at 3 June 2020.

Due to the emergence of COVID-19 and the impact this has on 
global economies and on business generally, the Board concluded, 
post year-end, that it was not appropriate to pay a final dividend for 
FY2020.

See note 29 (Post Balance Sheet Events) to the financial statements 
for further information.

Annual General Meeting

Your attention is drawn to the letter to shareholders and the notice 
of meeting accompanying this report which set out details of the 
matters which will be considered at the Annual General Meeting. In 
particular, please ensure to read additional disclosures relating to 
restrictions at the Annual General Meeting due to government and 
health authority guidance on COVID-19 social distancing.

Other Information 

Other information relevant to the Director’s Report may be found in 
the following sections of the Annual Report:

Information Location in the Annual Report

Results Financial Statements – pages 
104 to 110.

Principal risks & uncertainties 
including risks associated 
with recent emergence of 
COVID-19

Principal Risks & Uncertainties 
– pages 13 to 21.

Directors’ remuneration, 
including the interests of the 
directors and secretary in the 
share capital of the Company

Directors’ Remuneration 
Report – pages 77 to 92.

Long-Term Incentive Plan, 
share options and equity 
settled incentive schemes

Directors’ Remuneration 
Report – pages 77 to 92.

Significant subsidiary 
undertakings

Financial Statements – Note 
28.

 
The Directors’ Report for the year ended 29 February 2020 
comprises these pages and the sections of the Annual Report 
referred to under ‘Other information’ above, which are incorporated 
into the Directors’ Report by reference.

Signed
On behalf of the Board

Stewart Gilliland Jonathan Solesbury  

Interim Executive Chairman  Group Chief Financial Officer

3 June 2020

Corporate Governance 55Business & Strategy Financial Statements
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Year ended 29 February 2020 Year ended 28 February 2019
Before exceptional 

items
Exceptional items

(note 5) Total
Before exceptional 

items
Exceptional items 

(note 5) Total
Notes  €m €m €m  €m  €m €m

Revenue 1 2,145.5 - 2,145.5 1,997.3 - 1,997.3

Excise duties  (426.2) - (426.2) (422.4) - (422.4)

Net revenue 1 1,719.3 - 1,719.3 1,574.9 - 1,574.9

Operating costs 2 (1,598.5) (91.0) (1,689.5) (1,470.4) (7.8) (1,478.2)

Group operating profit/(loss) 1 120.8 (91.0) 29.8 104.5 (7.8) 96.7

Profit on disposal 5 - 0.9 0.9 - - -

Finance income 6 0.5 - 0.5 0.1 - 0.1

Finance expense 6 (20.3) - (20.3) (15.7) - (15.7)

Share of equity accounted 
investments’ profit/(loss) after 
tax 13 3.1 (2.4) 0.7 4.0 (3.3) 0.7

Profit/(loss) before tax 104.1 (92.5) 11.6 92.9 (11.1) 81.8

Income tax (expense)/credit 7 (12.3) 9.8 (2.5) (10.8) 1.1 (9.7)

Group profit/(loss) for the 
financial year 91.8 (82.7) 9.1 82.1 (10.0) 72.1

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 91.8 (82.7) 9.1 82.3 (10.0) 72.3

Non-controlling interests - - - (0.2) - (0.2)

Group profit/(loss) for the 
financial year 91.8 (82.7) 9.1 82.1 (10.0) 72.1

Basic earnings per share (cent) 9 2.9 23.4

Diluted earnings per share (cent) 9 2.9 23.4

 
All of the results are related to continuing operations.

Consolidated Income Statement 
For the financial year ended 29 February 2020

C&C Group plc Annual Report 2020104

Page 153 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



2020 2019
Notes €m €m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment* 11 223.4 144.5
Goodwill & intangible assets 12 652.9 683.7
Equity accounted investments 13 83.9 71.4
Retirement benefits 22 8.8 9.0
Deferred tax assets 21 11.9 4.0
Trade & other receivables 15 25.8 25.7

1,006.7 938.3
Current assets
Inventories 14 145.8 184.1
Trade & other receivables 15 166.0 162.6
Cash  123.4 144.4

435.2 491.1

TOTAL ASSETS  1,441.9 1,429.4

EQUITY
Capital and reserves 
Equity share capital 24 3.2 3.2
Share premium 24 171.0 152.6
Treasury shares 24 (36.6) (37.1)
Other reserves 24 102.4 96.4
Retained income  315.4 383.7
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 555.4 598.8
Non-controlling interests - (0.8)
Total Equity 555.4 598.0

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 74.4 -
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 19 323.8 390.8
Retirement benefits 22 16.7 12.2
Provisions 17 5.1 11.1
Deferred tax liabilities 21 16.5 16.9

436.5 431.0
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 18.9 -
Derivative financial liabilities 23 0.3 2.0
Trade & other payables 16 390.7 336.3
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 19 33.2 55.2
Provisions 17 4.1 4.6
Current income tax liabilities  2.8 2.3

450.0 400.4

Total liabilities  886.5 831.4

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES  1,441.9 1,429.4
* Includes leased right-of-use assets with net carrying amount of €76.7m (see note 18).

On behalf of the Board

S Gilliland J Solesbury 3 June 2020

Interim Executive Chairman Chief Financial Officer

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at 29 February 2020
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reflected in the Group’s consolidated tax charge and provision and 
any such differences could have a material impact on the Group’s 
income tax charge and consequently financial performance. 
The determination of the provision for income tax is based on 
management’s understanding of the relevant tax law and judgement 
as to the appropriate tax charge, and management believe that 
all assumptions and estimates used are reasonable and reflective 
of the tax legislation in jurisdictions in which the Group operates. 
Where the final tax charge is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences are recognised in the income tax 
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets in respect of deductible temporary differences 
are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available against 
which to offset these items. The recognition or non-recognition of 
deferred tax assets as appropriate also requires judgement as it 
involves an assessment of the future recoverability of those assets. 
The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on management’s 
judgement and estimate of the most probable amount of future 
taxable profits and taking into consideration applicable tax 
legislation in the relevant jurisdiction. 

Impact of COVID-19
There is a significant judgement in whether the impact of COVID-19 
should be considered in the measurement of assets and liabilities 
at year end. This judgement is based on whether COVID-19 is 
considered an adjusting or non-adjusting event, which is based on 
the facts and circumstances at the balance sheet date. The global 
spread of COVID-19 began before the balance sheet date and the 
Group concluded that the impact of COVID-19 should be reflected 
in the measurement of assets and liabilities in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet.

Sources of estimation uncertainty
Business combinations
Upon acquisition, the Group makes estimates to determine the 
purchase price of businesses acquired, taking into account 
contingent consideration, as well as its allocation to acquired 
assets and liabilities. The Group is required to determine the 
acquisition date and fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, 
including intangible assets such as brands, customer relationships 
and liabilities assumed. The estimated useful lives of the acquired 
amortisable assets, the identification of intangible assets and the 
determination of the indefinite or finite useful lives of intangible assets 
acquired will have an impact on the Group’s future profit or loss. 

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 29 February 2020 (continued)

The Group did not make any acquisitions in the current year. In the 
prior year the Group acquired the entire share capital of Matthew 
Clark (Holdings) Limited and Bibendum PLB (Topco) Limited. 
Significant estimates were made in the prior year as to the fair value 
of acquired assets and liabilities on acquisition as discussed in the 
Group’s Annual Report for the financial year ended 28 February 
2019.

Recoverable amount of goodwill
The impairment testing process requires management to make 
significant estimates regarding the future cash flows expected to 
be generated by cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated. Future cash flows relating to the eventual disposal of 
these cash-generating units and other factors may also be relevant 
to determine the fair value of goodwill. Management periodically 
evaluates and updates the estimates based on the conditions 
which influence these variables. The assumptions and conditions 
for determining impairments of goodwill reflect management’s best 
assumptions and estimates (discount rates, terminal growth rates, 
forecasted volume, net revenue, operating profit) but these items 
involve inherent uncertainties described above, many of which 
are not under management’s control. As a result, the accounting 
for such items could result in different estimates or amounts if 
management used different assumptions or if different conditions 
occur in future accounting periods.

The inputs to the value-in-use calculations are disclosed in note 12.

Incremental borrowing rates on leases
Management use estimation in determining the incremental 
borrowing rates for leases which has a significant impact on the 
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. The incremental 
borrowing rates are calculated using a portfolio approach, based 
on the risk profile of the entity holding the lease and the term and 
currency of the lease. The weighted average incremental borrowing 
rate applied to lease liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet on 
transition was 4.07% at 1 March 2019. 

C&C Group plc Annual Report 2020124

Page 155 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020

rachelshaw
Highlight



Pension valuation
Significant estimates are used in the determination of the pension 
obligation, the amounts recognised in the Income Statement and 
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income and the valuation of 
the defined benefit pension net surplus or deficit are sensitive to 
the assumptions used. The assumptions underlying the actuarial 
valuations (including discount rates, rates of increase in future 
compensation levels, mortality rates, salary and pension increases, 
future inflation rates and healthcare cost trends), from which the 
amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
are determined, are updated annually based on current economic 
conditions and for any relevant changes to the terms and conditions 
of the pension and post-retirement plans. These assumptions 
can be affected by (i) for the discount rate, changes in the rates of 
return on high-quality corporate bonds; (ii) for future compensation 
levels, future labour market conditions and (iii) for healthcare cost 
trend rates, the rate of medical cost inflation in the relevant regions. 
The weighted average actuarial assumptions used and sensitivity 
analysis in relation to the significant assumptions employed in the 
determination of pension and other post-retirement liabilities are 
contained in note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Whilst management believes that the assumptions used are 
appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in 
assumptions may affect the obligations and expenses recognised 
in future accounting periods. The assets and liabilities of defined 
benefit pension schemes may exhibit significant period-on-
period volatility attributable primarily to changes in bond yields 
and longevity. In addition to future service contributions, cash 
contributions may be required to remediate past service deficits. A 
sensitivity analysis of the change in these assumptions is provided in 
note 22.

Expected credit losses
Further to the impact of COVID-19 on the Group, estimates have 
been made around the credit losses expected to be incurred on 
the Group’s financial assets – principally being trade receivables 
and trade loans. In determining the expected credit losses, the 
Group has considered different sources of financial information, 
including comparisons to the financial crash and current market 
data, and concluded a suitable benchmark as being credit default 
swaps on industry-appropriate companies. Market data for credit 
default swaps on listed entities in the on-trade has been adjusted for 
yield-curves and Group customer risk weightings in determining an 
appropriate proxy for expected credit losses. 

For international, listed customers, without evidence to the contrary, 
(known as “low risk”) the expected credit loss is considered to be 
similar to the credit risk implied from credit default swaps of similar 
entities. However, for smaller, regional customers with less access to 
finance, the expected credit loss applied is leveraged by reference 
to historical Group losses for these customers as a ratio to Group 
losses for “low risk” customers. 

Provision for obsolete stock
As a result of COVID-19, the Group has been required to consider 
its provision for obsolete inventory. For inventory which has no 
alternate use or right of return to the supplier, and is not expected to 
be sold during lockdown, the provision for obsolescence has been 
calculated by reference to the shelf life of products compared with 
the expected period of lockdown. The Group has made an estimate 
of the period of lockdown based on the Geography of its operations 
on a case-by-case basis. The period of lockdown estimated for any 
region is not in excess of six months from year end. 
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Notes forming part of the financial statements
(continued)

A summary of activity under the Group’s equity settled share option schemes with the weighted average exercise price of the share options 
is as follows:-

2020 2019
Number of 

options/ equity 
Interests

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
options/ equity 

Interests
Weighted average 

exercise price
€ €

Outstanding at beginning of year 5,491,198 1.33 3,250,587 1.39

Granted/correction to opening balance 1,415,187 - 2,708,599 1.04

Exercised (259,166) 1.40 (64,445) -

Forfeited/lapsed (1,859,083) 1.16 (403,543) -

Outstanding at end of year 4,788,136 1.00 5,491,198 1.33

 
The aggregate number of share options/equity Interests exercisable at 29 February 2020 was 345,015 (2019: 113,045).

The unvested share options/equity Interests outstanding at 29 February 2020 have a weighted average vesting period outstanding of 1.3 
years (2019: 1.8 years). The weighted average contractual life outstanding of vested and unvested share options/equity Interests is 7.1 years 
(2019: 7.5 years). 

The weighted average market share price at date of exercise of all share options/equity Interests exercised during the year was €4.39 (2019: 
€3.11); the average share price for the year was €4.03 (2019: €3.17); and the market share price as at 29 February 2020 was £3.28 or €3.84 
euro equivalent (28 February 2019: €3.06 or £2.63 sterling equivalent).

5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2020 2019

€m €m

Operating costs

COVID-19 (a) (47.6) -

Impairment of intangible assets (b) (34.2) -

Contract termination (c) (4.4) -

Restructuring costs (d) (3.0) (5.3)

Impairment of property, plant & equipment (e) (1.0) (0.4)

Acquisition related expenditure (f) (0.2) (2.1)

Other (g) (0.6) -

Operating profit exceptional items (91.0) (7.8)

Profit on disposal (h) 0.9 -

Share of equity accounted investments’ exceptional items (i) (2.4) (3.3)

Total loss before tax (92.5) (11.1)

Income tax credit (j) 9.8 1.1

Total loss after tax (82.7) (10.0)

 
(a) COVID-19 
The Group has accounted for the COVID-19 pandemic as an adjusting event in the current financial year and has incurred an exceptional 
charge of €47.6m at 29 February 2020 in this regard. In light of the closure of on-trade premises in both Ireland and the UK, the Group 
reviewed the recoverability of its debtor book and advances to customers and booked an expected credit loss provision directly associated 
with COVID-19 of €19.4m and €5.8m respectively. The Group also reviewed the stock balances and in particular stock that was due to 
expire in the short to medium term and booked a provision of €10.6m. The balance of €11.8m relates to trade and marketing contracts 
now deemed to be onerous of €9.4m and the write off of an IT intangible asset where the project will now not be completed, as a direct 
consequence of COVID-19, of €2.4m.

4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
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(b) Impairment of intangible assets 
To ensure that goodwill and brands considered to have an indefinite useful economic life are not carried at above their recoverable amount, 
impairment reviews are performed annually or more frequently if there is an indication that their carrying amount(s) may not be recoverable, 
comparing the carrying value of the assets with their recoverable amount using value-in-use computations. 

With regard to the Group’s North America segment and in particular the Woodchuck suite of brands, the projected cash flows no longer 
supported the carrying value of the brand and an impairment of €34.1m was taken at 29 February 2020. Despite some signs of volume 
growth last summer on the back of innovation launches, the Woodchuck brands continue to struggle in an ever more crowded market place. 
The overall Cider category remains under pressure and is declining in value terms. The success of the relatively new Hard Seltzers’ category 
in particular has squeezed other categories and resulted in less space being made available for our brands. In the short and medium term 
the outlook is not positive for growth in Cider in the US and the COVID-19 crisis and linked restrictions has further restricted our ability to 
innovate and trade our way back to sustainable profit growth. 

An impairment of €0.1m was taken with respect to the Group’s Matthew Clark Bibendum cash generating unit directly attributable to a 
discontinued brand.

(c) Contract termination
During the current financial year, the Group terminated a number of its long term apple contracts incurring a cost of €4.4m. These apple 
contracts were deemed surplus to requirements. 

(d) Restructuring costs
Restructuring costs of €3.0m were incurred in the current financial year. These costs were primarily relating to severance costs arising 
from the acquisition and subsequent integration of Matthew Clark and Bibendum of €2.3m. Restructuring costs of €0.5m related to the 
centralisation of accounting services. Other restructuring initiatives across the Group in the current financial year resulted in a further charge 
of €0.2m. 

In the prior financial year, restructuring costs of €5.3m were incurred primarily relating to severance costs arising from the acquisition and 
subsequent integration of Matthew Clark and Bibendum and the previously acquired Orchard Pig into the Group, of €3.4m and €0.5m 
respectively. Other restructuring initiatives across the Group in the prior financial year resulted in a further charge of €1.4m. 

(e) Impairment of property, plant & equipment
Property (comprising land and buildings) and plant & machinery are valued at fair value on the Balance Sheet and reviewed for impairment 
on an annual basis. During the current financial year, as outlined in detail in note 11, the Group engaged external valuers to value the freehold 
land & buildings and plant & machinery at the Group’s Clonmel (Tipperary), Wellpark (Glasgow), Vermont (USA) and Portugal sites, along with 
the Group’s various Depots. Using the valuation methodologies, this resulted in a net revaluation loss of €1.0m accounted for in the Income 
Statement and a gain of €1.1m accounted for within Other Comprehensive Income.  

In the prior financial year, the Group took the decision to impair an element of its IT system at a cost of €0.4m which had become redundant 
following a system upgrade.

(f) Acquisition related expenditure
During the current financial year, the Group incurred €0.2m of costs associated with a previous acquisition. 

During the prior financial year, the Group incurred €2.1m of acquisition and integration related costs, primarily with respect to professional 
fees associated with the acquisition and subsequent integration of Matthew Clark and Bibendum into the Group.

(g) Other
Other costs of €0.6m were incurred during the current financial year with respect to incremental costs related to the dual running of 
warehouse management systems in Scotland due to system implementation delays.

5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (continued)
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Notes forming part of the financial statements
(continued)

Canadian Investment
During the current financial year, the Group disposed of its equity accounted investment in a Canadian company for cash proceeds of €6.1m, 
realising a profit of €2.6m on disposal. 

Whitewater Brewing Company Limited
On 20 December 2016, the Group acquired 25% of the equity share capital of Whitewater Brewing Company Limited, an Irish Craft brewer 
for £0.3m (€0.3m). 

Other
During the current financial year, on 5 March 2019, the Group made a 10% investment in an English registered entity Jubel Limited, a craft 
beer producer for €0.3m (£0.3m). 

In the current financial year, the Group made an additional investment in CVBA Braxatorium Parcensis of €0.2m following on from a less than 
€0.1m investment in the prior year. The Group has a 33% investment in the Belgium entity. 

The Group also has an equity investment in Shanter Inns Limited, Beck & Scott (Services) Limited (Northern Ireland) and The Irish Brewing 
Company Limited (Ireland). The value of each of these investments is less than €0.1m in the current and prior financial year.

(b) Financial Assets – Company 
2020 2019

€m €m

Equity investment in subsidiary undertakings at cost

At beginning of year 982.1 980.2

Capital contribution in respect of share options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 2.5 1.9

At end of year 984.6 982.1

 
The total expense of €2.5m (2019: €1.9m) attributable to equity settled awards granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings has been 
included as a capital contribution in financial assets. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the shares in the subsidiary undertakings are worth at least the amounts at which they are stated in the 
Balance Sheet. Details of subsidiary undertakings are set out in note 28.

14. INVENTORIES
2020 2019

€m €m

Group

Raw materials & consumables 46.2 47.2

Finished goods & goods for resale 99.6 136.9

Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 145.8 184.1

 
An analysis of the Group’s cost of sale expense is provided in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

Inventory write-down recognised within operating costs amounted to €2.2m (2019: €3.2m). The inventory write-down in the current financial 
year was with respect to breakages and write off of damaged and obsolete stock. The inventory write-down in the prior financial year of 
€3.2m was primarily due to the write-down of obsolete stock of €1.7m as a result of a change in a distribution company and the write-down 
of obsolete stock in our newly acquired distribution business of €1.5m due to a discontinued product. During the current financial year, the 
Group has reviewed the stock balances and in particular stock that was due to expire in the short to medium term and booked a provision of 
€10.6m as a result of COVID-19 (note 5). 

13. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS/FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
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Notes forming part of the financial statements
(continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure expected credit losses for trade 
receivables, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics, 
such as customer segments, historical information on payment patterns, terms of payment and days past due. The expected loss rates 
are based on the payment profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit loss experience. The historical loss rates are adjusted to 
reflect current and forward-looking information on customer specific and macroeconomic factors, which affect the ability of customers to 
settle receivables. COVID-19 had a material impact on the assessment of credit losses of the Group’s receivables balances at year end and 
the Group booked an exceptional provision of €19.4m in this regard (note 5).

Regarding advances to customers, the Group applies the general approach to measure expected credit losses which requires a loss 
provision to be recognised based on twelve month or lifetime expected credit losses, provided a significant increase in credit risk has 
occurred since initial recognition. The Group assesses the expected credit losses for advances to customers based on historical information 
on payment patterns, monitoring customer ordering activities, concentration maturity, and information about the current or forecasted 
general economic conditions, which affect the ability of customers to settle advances. The credit risk on advances to customers can be 
reduced through the value of security and/or collateral given. COVID-19 had a material impact on the assessment of credit losses with regard 
to advances to customers at year end and the Group booked an exceptional provision of €5.8m in this regard (note 5).

Trade receivables are on average receivable within 21 days (2019: 18 days) of the balance sheet date, are unsecured and are not interest 
bearing. For more information on the Group’s credit risk exposure refer to note 23.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and advances to customers during the year was as follows:

Trade receivables
Advance to 
customers Total Total

2020 2020 2020 2019
€m €m €m €m

Group

At beginning of year 11.5 5.7 17.2 13.3

Arising on acquisition - - - 6.9  

Recovered during the year (3.9) - (3.9) (6.5)

Provided during the year 25.6 6.7 32.3 6.3

Written off during the year (3.6) (2.0) (5.6) (2.7)

Translation adjustment - - - (0.1)

At end of year 29.6 10.4 40.0 17.2

At 29 February 2020, regarding the impact of the expected loss model on trade receivables and advances to customers, the Group has 
provided for expected credit losses over the next twelve months of €22.3m (2019: €1.4m) and expected lifetime losses of €17.7m (2019: 
€15.8m).

15. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
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25. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments
At the year end, the following capital commitments authorised by the Board had not been provided for in the financial statements:-

2020 2019
€m €m

Contracted 2.3 3.8

Not contracted 7.7 15.7

 10.0 19.5

 
The contracted capital commitments at 29 February 2020 primarily relate to an improved drainage system and waste water treatment plant 
in Clonmel amounting to €1.4m (2019: €0.7m), a waste water treatment plant in Wellpark of €0.7m (2019: €2.1m) and other of €0.2m (2019: 
€1.0m).

(b) Other commitments
At the year end, the value of contracts placed for future expenditure was:-

2020

Apples Glass Marketing* Barley Aluminium Polymer Wheat
Sugar/ 

glucose
Natural 

gas Electricity Total**
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

Payable in less than one year 8.1 4.7 7.6 7.6 0.8 0.3 0.9 7.5 0.3 0.1 37.9

Payable between 1 and 5 years 13.3 - 6.4 14.8 - - - - - - 34.5

Payable greater than 5 years 23.6 - - - - - - - - - 23.6

45.0 4.7 14.0 22.4 0.8 0.3 0.9 7.5 0.3 0.1 96.0

*  An element of committed marketing spend is now deemed to be onerous in light of COVID-19 (note 5).  
**  Commitment obligations range from between 1 year to 25 years.

2019

Apples Glass Marketing Barley Aluminium Polymer Wheat
Sugar/ 

glucose
Natural 

gas Electricity Total*
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

Payable in less than one year 7.6 3.0 4.2 7.8 0.6 0.2 0.9 7.9 - 0.7 32.9

Payable between 1 and 5 years 11.7 - 3.4 17.9 - - - - - - 33.0

Payable greater than 5 years 23.0 - - - - - - - - - 23.0

42.3 3.0 7.6 25.7 0.6 0.2 0.9 7.9 - 0.7 88.9

*  Commitment obligations range from between 1 year to 26 years.
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Notes forming part of the financial statements
(continued)

Equity accounted investments

Notes Nature of business
Class of shares held as at 29 February 2020
(100% unless stated)

Joint venture

Beck & Scott (Services) Limited (Northern Ireland) (a) Wholesale of drinks Ordinary, 50%

Brady P&C Limited (England) (b) Holding Company Ordinary, 49.9%

Drygate Brewing Company Limited (Scotland) (c) Brewing B Ordinary, 49%

The Irish Brewing Company Limited (Ireland) (d) Non-trading Ordinary, 45.61%

Associate

CVBA Braxatorium Parcensis (e) Brewing 33.33%

Shanter Inns Limited (Scotland) (f) Public houses Ordinary, 33%

Whitewater Brewing Co. Limited (Northern Ireland) (g) Brewing 25%

Jubel Limited (h) Brewing 10%

Notes:
(a) – (h) 
The address of the registered office of each of the above equity accounted investments is as follows:
(a) Unit 1, Ravenhill Business Park, Ravenhill Road, Belfast, BT6 8AW, Northern Ireland. 
(b) 49 Berkeley Square, 2nd Floor, London W1J 5AZ.
(c)  85 Drygate, Glasgow, G4 0UT, Scotland.
(d)  Bulmers House, Keeper Road, Crumlin, Dublin 12, D12 K702, Ireland.
(e) 3001 Leuven-Heverlee, Abdij van Park 7, Belgium.
(f) 230 High Street, Ayr, KA7 1RQ, Scotland.
(g) Lakeside Brae, Castlewellan, Northern Ireland, BT31 9RH.
(h) Office 311 Edinburgh House, 170 Kennington Lane, London, England, SE11 5DP.

29. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

As outlined in the Group’s viability statement on page 20, COVID-19 is having a material impact on the Group’s business and the Group has 
accounted for this as an adjusting event in the current year’s financial statements. Post year end COVID-19 continues to have an impact on 
the Group’s financial statements. In response to this, the Group has implemented a series of measures to reduce operating costs, maximise 
available cash flow, and maintain and strengthen the Group’s liquidity position. 

In March 2020, the Group completed the successful issue of approximately €140 million of new US Private Placement (‘USPP’) notes. The 
unsecured notes have maturities of 10 and 12 years and diversify the Group’s sources of debt finance. The Group’s Euro term loan included 
a mandatory prepayment clause from the issuance of any Debt Capital Market instruments. A waiver of the prepayment was successfully 
negotiated post year end in addition to a waiver of a July 2020 repayment which now becomes payable with the last instalment in July 2021. 
The Group also received a waiver on its debt covenants from its lending group for FY2021, to be replaced by a minimum liquidity covenant 
and monthly gross debt cap.  

The Group has also received confirmation from the Bank of England that it is eligible to issue commercial paper under the COVID-19 
Corporate Financing Facility (‘CCFF’’) scheme. The Group had not drawn down on this facility as at 3 June 2020.

28. SUBSIDIARIES AND EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS (continued)

C&C Group plc Annual Report 2020194

Page 162 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020

rachelshaw
Highlight



© 2019 Friend Studio Ltd File name: Cover_v47 Modification Date: 27 May 2020 4:15 pm

M
arks and Spencer G

roup plc
A

nnual R
ep

ort & Financial Statem
ents 2020

Marks and Spencer Group plc 
Annual Report & Financial Statements  
+ Notice of Annual General Meeting 2020

Page 163 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



Grafton Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2019

2019
G

rafton G
roup plc Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Page 164 of 165

A Personalised CPD Certificate of Completion will be forwarded to you upon completion of this course. 
These notes do not serve as proof of completion alone.

© OmniPro Education & Training 2020



Grafton Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2019

48
Risk Management (continued)
Key Risks

These principal risks are incorporated into the modelling activity 
performed to assess the ability of the Group to continue in operation 
and meet its liabilities as they fall due for the purposes of the Viability 
Statement on page 74.

The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group. It is not practical  
to document every risk that could affect the Group in this report. 
The risks identified below are those that could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s business model, future performance, solvency  
or liquidity. The actions taken to mitigate the risks cannot provide 
assurance that other risks will not materialise and adversely affect  
the operating results and financial position of the Group. 

Macro-Economic 
Conditions in the UK, 
Ireland and the 
Netherlands including  
the impact of Brexit

Risk movement

- = +

Link to Strategy

Strong Financial Base

Organic Growth and Acquisitions

Risk Description
Trading in the Group’s businesses is influenced 
by macro-economic conditions in the UK, 
Ireland, and the Netherlands. The Group’s 
markets are cyclical in nature and a proportion 
of revenue is dependent on the willingness of 
households to incur discretionary expenditure 
on home improvement projects. Investments 
of this nature closely correlate with general 
economic conditions. A deterioration in 
economic conditions in the UK, Ireland, or the 
Netherlands could result in lower demand in 
the Group’s businesses.

The Group’s customers are mainly professional 
tradespeople engaged in residential, 
commercial and industrial maintenance and 
new-build projects. These markets are affected 
by trends in improvements, remodelling and 
maintenance and construction. Demand in 
these markets is also influenced by economic 
factors including interest rates, the availability 
of credit, inflation, changes in property values, 
demographic trends, tax policy, employment 
levels and gross domestic product. Any 
negative movement in one or more of these 
factors could adversely affect demand in the 
Group’s business.

The result of the UK referendum to leave the 
European Union (“EU”) has created significant 
uncertainty about the near term outlook and 
prospects for the UK economy. Due to this 
uncertainty it is not possible to assess with 
confidence the likely impact on the UK 
economy of the UK leaving the EU or the extent 
to which any possible fall in investment and a 
potentially softer housing market could impact 
employment and household spending. This 
uncertainty could negatively impact the UK 
economy, reduce demand in the Group’s 
markets, impact the Group’s workforce and 
adversely affect the financial performance  
of the Group.

In addition, the potential disruption to the 
Group’s supply chain which could result from  
Brexit could have a short-term impact on the 
ability of businesses in both the UK and Ireland 
to meet their customers’ product requirements 
and could consequently lead to a reduction in 
revenue and profit.

Mitigation
The Group has taken significant action in 
previous years in response to the downturn in 
its markets to increase the operating efficiency 
of its business which leaves it well positioned 
to benefit from the continuing recovery. 
Exposure to the more resilient and less cyclical 
Repair, Maintenance and Improvement (“RMI”) 
market has increased through ongoing 
expansion of the network of Selco stores 
particularly in the Greater London Area.

The merchanting branches in Ireland were 
refocused on the residential RMI market during 
the downturn but are equally well positioned  
to respond to an increase in the new house 
build markets. Branch showrooms have been 
upgraded and the product portfolio expanded 
to meet the needs of customers engaged in 
residential RMI projects which currently 
account for a higher proportion of revenue.

The mitigation strategy also incorporates 
proactive cost control in response to changes 
in market conditions. An assessment of 
macro-economic, construction and residential 
market conditions informs the allocation of 
capital resources to new projects.

With specific regard to the risks relating to  
Brexit, the Group has performed a robust risk 
assessment and established a set of actions to 
address the key risks identified. These include 
working with suppliers to provide for continuity 
of supply of key products and where practical 
building up stock level of certain lines; 
evaluating the impact of changes to tariffs and 
customs arrangements to the Group; making 
appropriate provision for any data flows 
between the UK and EU; and actions to assist 
EU nationals working in the UK businesses in 
obtaining settled status.
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